
Parish Council

St. Charles Parish
St. Charles Parish Courthouse

15045 Highway 18

P.O. Box 302

Hahnville, LA 70057

985-783-5000

www.stcharlesparish-la.govMeeting Agenda

Council Chairman Julia Fisher-Perrier

Councilmembers Wendy Benedetto, Paul J. Hogan,

Terrell D. Wilson, Mary K. Clulee, Dick Gibbs,

William Billy Woodruff, Marilyn B. Bellock, Traci A. Fletcher

Council Chambers, Courthouse6:00 PMMonday, January 7, 2019

Final

CALL TO ORDER

PRAYER / PLEDGE

Pastor Thomas Hines

Hope Church, Luling

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Regular Meeting – November 26, 2018

Regular Meeting – December 10, 2018

SPECIAL BUSINESS (PROCLAMATIONS, CANVASS RETURNS, ETC.)

1 2018-0345 In Recognition:  Councilman Dick Gibbs, 2018 Council Chairman

Sponsors: Ms. Fisher-Perrier

2018-0345 ChairmanAttachments:

2 2018-0347 In Recognition:  Councilwoman Wendy Benedetto, 2018 Council 

Vice-Chairman

Sponsors: Mr. Gibbs

2018-0347 Vice-ChairAttachments:

3 2018-0346 Proclamation:  Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

Sponsors: Mr. Wilson

2018-0346 MLKAttachments:

REPORTS (FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE ACTIVITIES)

2018-0352 Information Technology/GIS
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ORDINANCES / RESOLUTIONS INTRODUCED FOR PUBLICATION / PUBLIC 

HEARING

Tuesday, January 22, 2019, 6:00 pm, Council Chambers, Courthouse, Hahnville

(No items for the regular Agenda)

PLANNING AND ZONING PETITIONS

4 2018-0341 An ordinance to amend the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance of 

1981, to change the zoning classification from C-2 to M-1 on Lot 

K-2A2-3, Almedia or Patterson Plantation Subdivision as requested by 

Jacob Fruchtnicht, for JBE Industries, LLC.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Planning & Zoning

2018-0341 JBE Industries Recommendation.pdf

2018-0341 12.06.18_Minutes_Fruchtnicht

2018-0341 JBE LUR_PZR 2018-09.pdf

2018-0341 JBE AERIAL PZR-2018-09.pdf

2018-0341 JBE ZONING PZR-2018-09.pdf

2018-0341 JBE FLUM PZR-2018-09.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

11/7/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Received/Assigned PH

12/6/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Recommended  Approval to the Planning 

Commission

12/6/18 Planning Commission Recommended  Approval to the Parish 

Council

12/10/18 Parish President Introduced

12/10/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council

ORDINANCES SCHEDULED FOR PUBLIC HEARING

(INTRODUCED AT PREVIOUS MEETING)

15 2018-0334 An ordinance approving and authorizing the execution of Change Order 

No. 2 (Final) for Parish Project No. P090201-6, Mimosa Avenue Culvert 

Replacement, resulting in a decrease of $10,000.00 in contract price.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Public Works

2018-0334 Change Order No. 2 Mimosa Culvert ReplacementAttachments:

Legislative History 
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12/10/18 Parish President Introduced

12/10/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council

18 2018-0340 An ordinance to approve and authorize the execution of Change Order 

No. 4 for the Norco Library Renovation/Addition located at 590 Apple 

Street in Norco to increase the contract amount by $3,469.00 and 

increase the contract time by 10 days.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran

2018-0340 Change Order #4

2018-0340 Change Order 4 Attachments

Attachments:

Legislative History 

12/10/18 Parish President Introduced

12/10/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council

24 2018-0342 An ordinance to approve and authorize the execution of a construction 

contract with Sealevel Construction, Inc. for Project No. P080502-18A, 

Oak Street Pump Station Improvements, in the amount of 

$1,062,870.00.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Public Works

2018-0342 Contract Oak Street PS Signed by Contractor.pdf

2018-0342 Letter of bid evaluation - Oak St PS Improvements & bid tab.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

12/10/18 Parish President Introduced

12/10/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council
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32 2018-0343 An ordinance to revoke and abandon undeveloped Walnut Street 

right-of-way to the east of Oak Street and undeveloped portion of 

Butternut Street right-of-way east of Oak Street, Hahnville LA, as shown 

on a survey by Jeff Ruello, PLS dated 9/22/18 and revised 12-04-18., 

dated 6/24/04.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Planning & Zoning

2018-0343 ACT of REVOCATION_Walnut and Butternut (Parcel A).pdf

2018-0343 revised plat.pdf

revocation JUDGEMENT.pdf

revocation JUDGEMENT MAP.pdf

2018-0343 Recommendation at a Glance.pdf

2018-0343 12.06.18_Minutes_Bayou Fleet (Parcel A)

2018-0343 LUR_PZS 2018-54 (Bayou Fleet Parcel A).pdf

2018-0343 AERIAL PZS-2018-54.pdf

2018-0343 ZONING PZS-2018-54.pdf

2018-0343 FLUM PZS-2018-54.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

11/1/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Received/Assigned PH

12/6/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Recommended  Approval to the Planning 

Commission

12/6/18 Planning Commission Recommended  Approval to the Parish 

Council

12/10/18 Parish President Introduced

12/10/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council
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52 2018-0344 An ordinance to revoke and abandon undeveloped Walnut Street 

right-of-way to the west of Oak Street in Hahnville, as shown on a survey 

by Jeff Ruello, PLS dated 9/22/18 and revised 12-04-18.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Planning & Zoning

2018-0344 ACT of REVOCATION_Walnut (Parcel B).pdf

2018-0344 revised plat.pdf

revocation JUDGEMENT.pdf

revocation JUDGEMENT MAP.pdf

2018-0344 walnut Recommendation at a Glance.pdf

2018-0344 12.06.18_Minutes_Bayou Fleet (Parcel B)

2018-0344 Walnut LUR_PZS 2018-53 (Bayou Fleet Parcel B).pdf

2018-0344 walnut AERIAL PZS-2018-53.pdf

2018-0344 walnut ZONING PZS-2018-53.pdf

2018-0344 walnut FLUM PZS-2018-53.pdf

Attachments:

Legislative History 

11/1/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Received/Assigned PH

12/6/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Recommended  Approval to the Planning 

Commission

12/6/18 Planning Commission Recommended  Approval to the Parish 

Council

12/10/18 Parish President Introduced

12/10/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council

69 2018-0276 An ordinance to amend the St. Charles Parish Subdivision Regulations 

of 1981, II. Subdivision Procedure to revise item G, Final Plat 

Requirements, to eliminate the requirement for copies of final plat and 

as-built plans on film reproducible material.

Sponsors: Mr. Hogan

2018-0276 Recommendation at a Glance.pdf

2018-0276 12.06.18_Minutes_Eliminate film reproducible.pdf

2018-0276 LUR_PZO 2018-06.1.pdf

2018-0276 8-30-18 Memo to PZ

2018-0276 PH email to P&Z

2018-0276 Postponed Indefinitely Proposed Ord

2018-0276 10-28-18 PH email to PZ

Attachments:

Legislative History 
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8/30/18 Council Secretary Correspondence Sent

to the Planning & Zoning Director to initiate the process to have the 

referenced placed on the October 11, 2018 Planning Commission Agenda.

10/1/18 Council Member(s) Introduced

10/1/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council

10/15/18 Parish Council Public Hearing Requirements Satisfied

Councilman Hogan requested that File No. 2018-0276 be postponed 

indefinitely.

10/15/18 Parish Council Postponed Indefinitely

Councilwoman Fisher-Perrier questioned why File No. 2018-0276 had been 

brought up to postpone indefinitely if this came from the Planning & Zoning 

Commission?

Councilman Hogan stated that File No. 2018-0276 was early introduced 

and the Department of Planning & Zoning and Commission suggested 

some amendments.

Council Discussion

Public Works/Wastewater Director Clayton Faucheux spoke on the 

matter.

10/15/18 Parish Council Postponed Indefinitely

10/15/18 Council Member(s) Correspondence Sent

to Planning & Zoning Director, Mr. Michael Albert, from 

Councilman-At-Large, Division B, Paul J. Hogan, PE (email), to have the 

Planning Commission postpone indefinitely PZO-2018-05, proposed 

ordinance, File No. 2018-0276, at their next meeting scheduled for 

Thursday, November 1st.

10/28/18 Council Member(s) Correspondence Sent

to Planning & Zoning Staff Member, Marny Stein, from 

Councilman-At-Large, Division B, Paul J. Hogan, PE (email), to formally 

request that PZO-2018-05, proposed ordinance, File No. 2018-0276, be 

withdrawn at the next Planning Commission meeting scheduled for 

Thursday, November 1st.

12/6/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Recommended  Approval to the Planning 

Commission

12/6/18 Planning Commission Recommended  Approval to the Parish 

Council

12/10/18 Council Member(s) Introduced

12/10/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council
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ORDINANCES/RESOLUTIONS WHICH HAVE BEEN TABLED

73 2018-0331 An ordinance to approve and authorize the Parish President to buy the 

property known as 409 Down the Bayou Road, Des Allemands from 

Sherwood A. Berard, which property is more particularly described in 

the attached “Agreement to Purchase and Sell” document.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Public Works

2018-0331 Agreement to purchase and sell

2018-0331 drawing.pdf

Attachments:

[This proposed ordinance was tabled on December 10, 2018; Public Hearing 

requirements were satisfied.]

Legislative History 

11/26/18 Parish President Introduced

11/26/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council

12/10/18 Parish Council to extend time an additional three minutes

Reported:

   Public Works Department Recommended:  Approval

Speakers:

   Mr. Clyde McCully, Paradis

12/10/18 Parish Council Time Extended

12/10/18 Parish Council Public Hearing Requirements Satisfied

Speakers:

   Ms. Patricia Hartman, Des Allemands

12/10/18 Parish Council Tabled.

Council Discussion

Public Works/Wastewater Director Clayton Faucheux spoke on the 

matter.

Further Council Discussion regarding File No. 2018-0331 following 

Councilman Hogan's motion to Table and prior to Councilwoman 

Fisher-Perrier's second to the motion to Table.

12/10/18 Parish Council Tabled.

105 2018-0333 An ordinance to name a private driveway located on Lot GV-2X, Gassen 

Villa Subdivision, as requested by Wells One Investments, LLC.

Sponsors: Ms. Fisher-Perrier

2018-0333 Extra InfoAttachments:

[This proposed ordinance was tabled on December 10, 2018; Public Hearing 

requirements were satisfied.]

Legislative History 

11/26/18 Council Member(s) Introduced
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11/26/18 Parish Council Publish/Scheduled for Public Hearing to the 

Parish Council

12/10/18 Parish Council Public Hearing Requirements Satisfied

Reported:

   Councilwoman Fisher-Perrier Recommended:   Approval

Planning & Zoning Director Michael Albert spoke on the matter.

12/10/18 Parish Council Tabled.

Council Discussion

Mr. Albert spoke on the matter.

12/10/18 Parish Council Tabled.

PERSONS TO ADDRESS THE COUNCIL

107 2019-0001 Mr. Walter Pilie’:  Lack of Drainage

2019-0001 petition - Pilie'.pdfAttachments:

RESOLUTIONS

108 2018-0348 A resolution providing mandatory supporting authorization to endorse 

the Resubdivision of a Portion of Lot A of Fashion Plantation as 

requested by Jerome Lombardo and Brian Lombardo, with a waiver 

from the requirement for frontage on a developed street.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Planning & Zoning

2018-0348 Lombardo Recommendation at a Glance (2)

2018-0348 12.06.18_Minutes_Lombardo

2018-0348 Lombardo LUR_PZS 2018-56

2018-0348 Lombardo Survey

2018-0348 Lombardo AERIAL PZS-2018-56

2018-0348 Lombardo ZONING PZS-2018-56

2018-0348 Lombardo FLUM PZS-2018-56

Attachments:

Legislative History 

11/7/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Received/Assigned PH

12/6/18 Department of Planning & 

Zoning

Rcmnd'd  Approval w/Stip. to the Planning 

Commission

Approval with waiver from the required frontage on a developed street

12/6/18 Planning Commission Rcmnd'd  Approval w/Stip. to the Parish 

Council

Approval with waiver from the required frontage on a developed street
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121 2018-0349 A resolution notifying the Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality 

that the St. Charles Parish Department of Wastewater has reviewed the 

Municipal Water Pollution Prevention Environmental Audit Report for 

LA0032131 AI43356 - Luling Oxidation Pond, and set forth the 

required action.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Wastewater

2018-0349 Luling AuditAttachments:

139 2018-0350 A resolution notifying the Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality 

that the St. Charles Parish Department of Wastewater has reviewed the 

Municipal Water Pollution Prevention Environmental Audit Report for 

LA0073521 AI43357 - Hahnville Wastewater Treatment Plant, 

and set forth the required action.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Wastewater

2018-0350 Hahnville AuditAttachments:

157 2018-0351 A resolution notifying the Louisiana Department of Environmental Quality 

that the St. Charles Parish Department of Wastewater has reviewed the 

Municipal Water Pollution Prevention Environmental Audit Report for 

LA0073539 AI39862 - Destrehan Wastewater Treatment Plant, 

and set forth the required action.

Sponsors: Mr. Cochran and Department of Wastewater

2018-0351 Destrehan AuditAttachments:

MEETINGS, ANNOUNCEMENTS, NOTICES, ETC.

   MEETINGS

CIVIL SERVICE BOARD:  Tuesday, 1/8/19, 4:30PM, Council Chambers

LAFOURCHE BASIN LEVEE DISTRICT:  Wednesday, 1/9/19, 6PM, Lafourche Basin 

Levee District Office, 21380 Highway 20, Vacherie

COMMUNITY ACTION ADVISORY BOARD:  Wednesday, 1/9/19, 7PM, Council 

Chambers

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION:  Thursday, 1/10/19, 7PM, Council Chambers

COMMUNICATIONS DISTRICT (911):  Monday, 1/14/19, 5PM, Council Chambers

LIBRARY BOARD:  Tuesday, 1/15/19, 6PM, Council Chambers

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT:  Thursday, 1/17/19, 7PM, Council Chambers

PONTCHARTRAIN LEVEE DISTRICT:  Tuesday, 1/22/19, 6PM, Pontchartrain Levee 

District Headquarters Complex, 2069 Railroad Avenue, Lutcher

ST. CHARLES PARISH COUNCIL:  Tuesday, 1/22/19, 6PM, Council Chambers

   ANNOUNCEMENTS

PARISH HOLIDAY: Monday, January 21, 2019 - Martin Luther King, Jr. Day
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SPECIAL MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED BY COUNCIL

2018-0353 Appointment of Chairman to the Operations, Maintenance, and 

Construction Management Committee

Council Chairman shall name a Councilman to act as Chairman of the Operations, 

Maintenance, and Construction Management Committee [per Parish Council Rule 32]

2018-0354 Appointment of Chairman to the Legislative Committee

Council Chairman shall name a Councilman to act as Chairman of the Legislative 

Committee [per Parish Council Rule 32]

2018-0355 Appointment of Chairman to the Contract/Finance and Administrative 

Committee

Council Chairman shall name a Councilman to act as Chairman of the Contract/Finance 

and Administrative Committee [per Parish Council Rule 32]

2018-0356 Appointment of Chairman to the Special Projects/Public Safety, Health, 

and Environmental Committee

Council Chairman shall name a Councilman to act as Chairman of the Special 

Projects/Public Safety, Health, and Environmental Committee [per Parish Council Rule 

32]

2018-0357 Appointment of Chairman to the Hurricane Protection Projects 

Committee

Council Chairman shall name a Councilman to act as Chairman of the Hurricane 

Protection Projects Committee [per Parish Council Rule 32]

Accommodations for Disabled

St. Charles Parish will upon request and with three (3) days advanced notice provide 

reasonable accommodation to any disabled individual wishing to attend the meeting. Anyone 

requiring reasonable accommodation is requested to contact the Office of the Council 

Secretary at (985) 783-5000 to discuss the particular accommodations needed.
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St. Charles Parish
Courthouse

15045 Highway 18
P.O. Box 302

Hahnville, LA 70057
985-783-5000
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St. Charles Parish

Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0345 Name: In Recognition:  Councilman Dick Gibbs, 2018
Council Chairman

Status:Type: Proclamation Special Business

File created: In control:1/7/2019 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:1/7/2019

Enactment date: Yes

Title: In Recognition:  Councilman Dick Gibbs, 2018 Council Chairman

Sponsors: Julia Fisher-Perrier

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2018-0345 Chairman

Action ByDate Action ResultVer.
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St. Charles Parish

Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0347 Name: In Recognition:  Councilwoman Wendy Benedetto,
2018 Council Vice-Chairman

Status:Type: Proclamation Special Business

File created: In control:1/7/2019 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:1/7/2019

Enactment date: Yes

Title: In Recognition:  Councilwoman Wendy Benedetto, 2018 Council Vice-Chairman

Sponsors: John R. 'Dick' Gibbs

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2018-0347 Vice-Chair

Action ByDate Action ResultVer.
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Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0346 Name: Proclamation:  Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

Status:Type: Proclamation Special Business

File created: In control:1/7/2019 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:1/7/2019

Enactment date: Yes

Title: Proclamation:  Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

Sponsors: Terrell D. Wilson

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2018-0346 MLK
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Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0352 Name: Information Technology/GIS

Status:Type: Report In Council - Reports

File created: In control:1/7/2019 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:1/7/2019

Enactment date: Yes

Title: Information Technology/GIS

Sponsors:

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments:
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St. Charles Parish
Courthouse

15045 Highway 18
P.O. Box 302

Hahnville, LA 70057
985-783-5000

www.stcharlesparish-la.gov

St. Charles Parish

Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0341 Name: C-2 to M-1 on Lot K-2A2-3, Almedia or Patterson
Plantation Subdivision as requested by Jacob
Fruchtnicht, for JBE Industries, LLC

Status:Type: Ordinance Public Hearing

File created: In control:12/10/2018 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:1/7/2019

Enactment date: Yes

Title: An ordinance to amend the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance of 1981, to change the zoning
classification from C-2 to M-1 on Lot K-2A2-3, Almedia or Patterson Plantation Subdivision as
requested by Jacob Fruchtnicht, for JBE Industries, LLC.

Sponsors: Lawrence 'Larry' Cochran, Department of Planning & Zoning

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2018-0341 JBE Industries Recommendation.pdf

2018-0341 12.06.18_Minutes_Fruchtnicht

2018-0341 JBE LUR_PZR 2018-09.pdf

2018-0341 JBE AERIAL PZR-2018-09.pdf

2018-0341 JBE ZONING PZR-2018-09.pdf

2018-0341 JBE FLUM PZR-2018-09.pdf

Action ByDate Action ResultVer.

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

IntroducedParish President12/10/2018 1

Recommended  ApprovalPlanning Commission12/6/2018 1

Recommended  ApprovalDepartment of Planning & Zoning12/6/2018 1

Received/Assigned PHDepartment of Planning & Zoning11/7/2018 1
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St. Charles Parish                         Planning Board of Commissioners                          December 6, 2018 

RECOMMENDATIONS AT A GLANCE 
 
PZR-2018-09 requested by Jacob Fruchtnicht for JBE Industries, LLC for a change in 
zoning classification from C-2 to M-1 at Lot K-2A2-3 Almedia Plantation, near 201 
Almedia Rd.,  St. Rose. Council District 5. 
 

Planning Department Recommendation: 
 

Approval 
 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
 
Approval 
 



St. Charles Parish Planning Board of Commissioners December 6, 2018 
 Minutes  

 

Commissioner Booth: Next item on the agenda PZR-2018-09 requested by Jacob 
Fruchtnicht for JBE Industries, LLC for a change in zoning classification from C-2 to M-1 
at Lot K-2A2-3 Almedia Plantation, near 201 Almedia Rd.,  St. Rose. Council District 5. 
Mr. Welker. 
 
Mr. Welker: This is a request to change the zoning on Lot K-2A2-3 from C-2, general 
commercial to M-1, light manufacturing and industrial. The Planning Department uses 
the 3 rezoning criteria to determine whether or not a rezoning should be granted 
approval. The first 2 rezoning criteria are not met by this request, the M-1 zoning does 
not comply with the general commercial future land use designation of the 
Comprehensive Land Use Plan. It does not meet the 2nd criteria, there’s nothing as far 
as the land use pattern or development of the area that makes the current C-2 zoning a 
burden of some sort to the property. The request does meet the 3rd criteria as proposed 
M-1 zoning and permitted uses in the district would be compatible with the adjacent M-1 
zoning and industrial uses which continue along up the corridor all the way up to Airline 
Hwy. This is another rezoning trend along Almedia Road since the zoning ordinance 
was established in 1981, Almedia Road has undergone 7 separate zoning changes to 
M-1 zoning. Three of those changes occurred from 1985 to 1994, another 4 changes 
have occurred from 2013 to 2017. This patterns signals a change from what was 
planned as a commercial corridor to one that’s becoming an industrial corridor. This is in 
addition to the other side of Almedia Road which has always been primarily M-1 zoned. 
The property is less than 3 acres and the combined area of all the different rezonings 
that have occurred is still under 3 acres so there’s not need to make any changes to the 
Future Land Use Map. Lot K2A2-3 meets the 10,000 sq. ft. area and 100 ft. width 
requirements for the M-1 zoning district. Any future development must meet the setback 
requirement for the M-1 zoning district. The department recommends approval due to 
meeting the 3rd rezoning criteria.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. This is a public hearing for PZR-2018-09 changing 
from C-2 to M-1 on 201 Almedia Road, that’s Lot K2A2-3. Anyone here to speak for or 
against this particular issue? Is the applicant here? Ok. Anyone has any questions or 
comments about it? This is in my area of responsibility and I’ve had nothing negative, in 
fact over the time I’ve been on the Commission, Almedia Road is predominately going 
in the direction of M-1 and I don’t see a problem with it. Ms. Stein. 
 
Ms. Stein: This would be a recommendation so we would assume that it would go to the 
parish council for January 7th.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Alright, any other questions or comments? Let’s cast your vote. 
 
YEAS:  Gordon, Petit, Granier, Booth, Galliano 
NAYS: Richard 
ABSENT: Frangella 
 
Commissioner Booth: Mr. Richard is nay, everyone else is for it and Mr. Frangella is not 
here, so that goes to the council at their January meeting. 



St. Charles Parish 
Department of Planning & Zoning 
 

LAND USE REPORT 
CASE NUMBER: PZR-2018-09 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

 Name/Address of Applicant   Application Date: 11/07/18 
Jacob Fruchtnicht 
405 30th Street 
New Orleans, LA 70124 
(504)-214-6424; jbtruckingla@yahoo.com  
 

 Location of Site 
Lot K-2A2-3, Almedia or Patterson Plantation Subdivision; Almedia Road, St. Rose 
 

 Requested Action 
Rezoning of Lot K-2A2-3 from C-2, General Commercial-Retail Sales to M-1, Light 
Manufacturing and Industry 
 

SITE INFORMATION 

 Size of Parcel 
13,580 square feet; 130 feet wide 

 

 Current Zoning and Land Use 
C-2; vacant but cleared 
 

 Surrounding Zoning and Land Use 
M-1 zoning is adjacent to the north side and across Almedia Road; C-2 zoning is 
adjacent to the River Road side and rear. 
 
Automotive repair is located across Almedia Road; a storage yard is adjacent to the 
north side; a Special Permit Use for automobile sales was approved for the adjacent 
lot on the River Road side; vacant and wooded land is adjacent to the rear.  
 

 Future Land Use Recommendation 
General Commercial: Includes sites for commercial uses that provide a mix of 
business activities and that serve the community as a whole. These uses provide for 
comparison shopping and services which are ordinarily obtained on an occasional 
rather than daily basis. In general, this designation applies to most commercial uses 
that are permitted in the C-2 (General Commercial–Retail) and all of the uses 
permitted in the C-3 (Highway Commercial) zoning districts. 

 

 Traffic Access  
The site has 130 feet of width along Almedia Road, a state highway providing 
access between River Road and Airline Hwy. 
 

 Utilities 
Representatives of Public Works & Wastewater and Waterworks indicate existing 
utilities in the area can accommodate M-1 uses. 
 
 

APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 
[I.] M-1 Light manufacturing and industry district:  
1. Use Regulations: A building or land may be used for the following purposes if in accordance with the 

special provisions outlined below.  
a. A building or land shall be used only for the following purposes: 

(1) Those uses identified as items 2 through 27 as listed in the C-3 District. 
(2) Office parks which shall include groups or clusters of administrative, professional, and other 

business offices as well as individual banks and restaurants.  
(3) Agriculture and other general farming uses. 
(4) Warehousing and storage of nonhazardous material. 

mailto:jbtruckingla@yahoo.com


(5) Assembly plants. 
(6) Bottled gas sales and/or service. 
(7) Food processing plants. 
(8) Cellophane products manufacturing. 
(9) Cold storage or refrigerating plants. 
(10) Electrical parts manufacturing and assembly. 
(11) Fiber products manufacturing (previously prepared fiber). 
(12) Garment manufacturing. 
(13) Glass products manufacturing. 
(14) Ironwork (no foundry, drop hammer, and no punch presses over twenty (20) tons capacity). 
(15) [Repealed by Ord. No. 92-1-1, § I, 1-21-92.] 
(16) Leather products manufacturing (previously prepared leather). 
(17) Machinery equipment sales and service. 
(18) Millwork. 
(19) Paint mixing and treatment (not employing a boiling process). 
(20) Paper products manufacturing (previously prepared material). 
(21) Plastic products manufacturing (previously prepared material). 
(22) Sheet metal products manufacturing (light). 
(23) Sign manufacture. 
(24) Open storage of building material, lumber, machinery and pipe, provided the material is 

enclosed within a solid fence at least six feet high within required building lines when the 
storage area is adjacent to or across the street from an A, R, or C District.  

(25) Railroad freight terminals, switching and classification yards, repair shops, roundhouse, 
power houses and fueling, sanding and watering stations.  

(26) Television and radio broadcasting transmitters. 
(27) Textile products manufacturing. 
(28) Toy manufacturing. 
(29) Well drilling services. 
(30) Wood products manufacturing (assembling work and finishing). 

b. Special exception uses and structures (variation): 
(1) Temporary construction facilities for a period of one (1) year upon approval of the Planning 

Director.   
c. Special permit uses and structures include the following: 

(1) Office buildings for gambling operations, excluding all gaming activities, upon review and 
approval by the Planning Commission and supporting resolution of the Council.  

(2) Operations which store or utilize hazardous materials identified through guidelines contained 
in subsection VI.D.I.4.b. of these regulations upon review and approval of the Planning 
Commission and supporting resolution of the Council.   

(3) Cellular installations and PCS (personal communication service) installations.   
(4) Truck terminals (with video poker gaming facilities) upon review and approval of the Planning 

Commission, and supporting resolution of the Council. Truck terminals with video poker 
gaming facilities shall conform to the regulations set forth by the state of Louisiana and to the 
following regulations:  
(1) Frontage shall be on a median-divided, major arterial with a minimum of 4-roadway 

lanes, and having federal or state designation.  
(2) Minimum lot size of site shall be ten (10) acres. 
(3) Truck terminals with video poker gaming facilities shall also have all of the following 

amenities:  
a) A separate truckers' lounge 
b) A full-service laundry facility located in a convenient area for truckers' use 
c) Private showers for men and women and not located in an area open to general 

public restroom facilities  
d) A travel store with items commonly referred to as truckers' supplies (items commonly 

used only by commercial motor vehicles)  
e) Truck scales 
f) Separate truckers' telephones 
g) Permanent storage facilities for fuel 

(4) These regulations shall not be applied to any truck stops with video poker gaming 
facilities which have received a Certificate of Zoning Compliance previous to the date of 
this ordinance, notwithstanding any other provisions of this ordinance.   

(5) Towing yard. Towing yards, upon review and approval by the Planning Commission and 
supporting resolution of the Council, shall conform to the following regulations:   
(1) Site plan approval. All tow yard operators must secure approval of a site plan. The 

site plan shall include:  
a) The storage layout and the maximum number of vehicles proposed to be stored. 

All storage parking spaces shall open directly to an access drive. Vehicles shall 
not be stored on top of each other. All vehicles shall be stored on an aggregate 
parking surface;  

b) A seven-foot solid, opaque fence will enclose such yards and shall be maintained 
in a constant state of good repair. Entrances will be constructed of the same 
material as the fence. All entrances shall remain closed when not in use;  

c) A ten (10) foot buffer zone when abutting a C-3 or lesser intensive use or zoning 
district. The buffer shall be planted with acceptable trees and shrubs;  

d) All buildings and structures to be located on the site and the required off-street 
parking layout.  



(2) Towing yard operators shall maintain records of each vehicle and its storage period. 
These records shall be available upon request of the planning department.  

(3) Towing yards shall also adhere to state and local licensing requirements. 
(4) Any change of permitted plan will result in a cease and desist order being placed on 

the towing yard.   
(6) Green markets upon review and approval by the Planning Commission and 

supporting resolution of the Council. Such sites must possess frontage on a hard-
surfaced public collector or arterial street.   

(7) Barrooms, night clubs, lounges and dancehalls upon review and approval by the 
Planning Commission and supporting resolution of the Council.   

(8) Automotive racing tracks and strips upon receiving a recommendation of the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and an ordinance granting approval by the Parish 
Council.   

(9) Disposal and/or deposition of directional boring slurry upon receiving a 
recommendation by the planning and zoning commission and an ordinance granting 
approval by the parish council. The requirement for a special permit shall not apply to 
directional boring associated with oil and gas production, nor shall it apply to the 
incidental or accidental deposition at the site of the boring.   

2. Spatial Requirements: 
a. Minimum lot size: Ten thousand (10,000) square feet. Minimum width: One hundred (100) feet.  
b. Minimum yard sizes: 

(1) Front - twenty-five (25) feet 
(2) Side - fifteen (15) feet 
(3) Rear - twenty-five (25) feet. 
(4) Whenever property abuts a major drainage canal as defined by the Subdivision regulations 

the required setback for all structures shall be ten (10) feet measured from the inner 
boundary of such servitude or right-of-way, not withstanding any other more restrictive 
setbacks, this provision shall not apply to any lot of record created and existing prior to the 
effective date of Ordinance No. 99-12-8, December 15, 1999.   

3. Transportation System: Arterial, rail, water. 
4. Special Provisions: 

a. No manufacturing operations within the M-1 zoning district shall emit odors, gas or fumes beyond 
the lot line or produce a glare beyond the lot line. All facilities shall be dust-proofed including 
walkways, driveways and parking areas. All operations must be conducted within a building or 
within an area enclosed on all sides by a solid fence or wall no less than six (6) feet in height.   

b. Where any industrial or commercial use in an M-1 zoning district abuts any residential district or 
use, a six-foot high solid wood or vinyl fence or masonry wall shall border the same and there 
shall be a buffer strip fifteen (15) feet wide designated and maintained on the site planted with 
plant materials acceptable for buffer zones unless the Planning and Zoning Department shall 
require a greater buffer strip.   

c. The use(s) shall not receive, process, or create hazardous materials which are listed on the latest 
National Toxicology Programs Annual Report on Carcinogens, SARA Title III section 302 (EHS), 
and/or SARA Title III Section 313 (toxicity) without a special permit as identified in section 
VI.D.[I].1.c of this ordinance. Whenever a proposed development or expansion involves chemical 
processing or storage on a site in an M-1 zoning district and the uses do not require a special 
permit as identified in section VI.D.[I].1.c of this ordinance, certification shall be furnished by a 
chemical engineer, registered in the State of Louisiana and approved by the Parish of St. 
Charles, that materials associated with the enterprise do not appear on cited hazardous material 
lists. Those chemicals or materials which are permitted under this regulation either by special 
permit or certification of compliance, shall be stored in accordance with the National Fire 
Protection Association Flammable and Combustible Liquids Code (NFPA 30 1990), or amended 
version. With regard to placement of allowable materials on site, the minimum distance in feet 
from property line which is or can be built upon, including the opposite side of a public roadway, 
shall be two times the minimum distances required by NFPA 30. In the event the distances 
required by this paragraph exceed the minimum distances required by NFPA 30, then the 
requirements of this paragraph shall govern.  

 
Appendix A.  Section XV. - Amendment procedure 
D. Rezoning guidelines and criteria: Before the Commission makes a recommendation or the Council 

rezones property; there should be reasonable factual proof by the proponent of a change that one or 
more of the following criteria are met: 

1. The proposed rezoning conforms to land development pattern established by the St. Charles 
Parish Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map and does not create a spot zoning that is 
incompatible with the surrounding neighborhood. 

2. The Land-use pattern or character has changed to the extent that the existing zoning no longer 
allows reasonable use of the applicant's property. One or more of following examples may be 
used in evaluating reasonableness: 

a. Consideration of uses on adjacent properties that would limit the use of the site under 
consideration. 

b. Consideration of unique or unusual physical or environmental limitations due to size, shape, 
topography or related hazards or deficiencies. 

c. Consideration of changes in land value, physical environment or economic aspects which can 
be shown to limit the usefulness of vacant land or buildings. 

3. Potential uses permitted by the proposed rezoning will not be incompatible with existing 
neighborhood character nor will they overburden public facilities and infrastructure.  



The Planning Staff shall base rezoning analyses on these criteria but shall not be prohibited from 
factoring unique circumstances of the application into the analysis. The Planning and Zoning 
Commission may state in its recommendations to the Council: its concurrence with,  or rejection of, 
any or all of the proponents' case for the suggested amendment, and/or its position relative to 
proponents' statements on the case. Planning Staff analyses and recommendations shall be 
forwarded to the Council along with the Commission's recommendations. 

 

E. Rezoning approval criteria: Before the Council votes to approve a rezoning, there should be 
reasonable factual proof by the applicant that: 

1. The proposed map amendment is in compliance, or is not in conflict, with the goals and 
recommendations of the St. Charles Parish Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map. and  

2. The proposed map amendment does not negatively impact the health, safety, and welfare of the 
community. 

 

REZONING GUIDELINE EVALUATION  

Before the Commission makes a recommendation or the Council rezones property; 
there should be reasonable factual proof by the proponent of a change that one or more 
of the following criteria are met: 
1. The proposed rezoning conforms to land development pattern established by the St. 

Charles Parish Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map and does not create a 
spot zoning that is incompatible with the surrounding neighborhood.  Plan 2030 
recommends General Commercial for this site, which does not provide for uses 
permitted in the industrial zoning districts.  This would not be a spot zoning as it is an 
extension of adjacent M-1 zoning, but due to non-conformance with the General 
Commercial Future Land Use designation, the request fails the first criteria.    

 
2. The Land-use pattern or character has changed to the extent that the existing zoning 

no longer allows reasonable use of the applicant's property.   Almedia Road has had 
seven (7) rezonings to M-1 since 1985 resulting in approximately 2,260 feet of 
corridor frontage zoned M-1.  While Almedia Road is developing as a light-industrial 
corridor, it still maintains a commercial and residential character on the River Road 
end, near the subject site.  Even with the area is in transition, the current C-2 zoning 
does not deprive the property of all reasonable use.  The request fails the second 
criteria  

 
3. Potential uses permitted by the proposed rezoning will not be incompatible with 

existing neighborhood character nor will they overburden public facilities and 
infrastructure.  Representatives from Public Works and Waterworks determined the 
proposed M-1 zoning and uses will not overburden water, sewer, drainage, or road 
capacity.  With the amount of M-1 zoning and uses on the corridor, a change to M-1 
permitting M-1 uses will not be out of character with the development pattern of the 
Almedia Road corridor.  The request passes the third criteria   

 

ANALYSIS 

The applicant requests a change of zoning for Lot K-2A2-3, located on Almedia Road, 
from C-2, General Commercial to M-1, Light Manufacturing and Industrial, for the 
purpose of developing a workshop and storage for a trucking company. 
 
The first rezoning criterion is not met as M-1 zoning does not comply with the General 
Commercial Future Land Use designation from the Comprehensive Plan.  It does not 
meet the second criteria as the development pattern along Almedia Road does not 
create a situation in which the existing C-2 zoning prohibits reasonable use of the lot.   
 
The request meets the third criteria as the proposed M-1 zoning and permitted uses in 
the district would be compatible with adjacent M-1 zoning and industrial uses which 
continue up the corridor to Airline Highway.    
 
Since the Zoning Ordinance of 1981 was established, Almedia Road has undergone 
seven (7) changes to M-1 zoning.  Three changes occurred from 1985 to 1994 over 
231,000 sf. (PZR-1985-18/Ord. 85-10-1, PZR-1985-20/Ord. 86-3-3, PZR-1994-13/Ord. 
94-12-13).  Another four changes occurred from 2013 to 2017 over 149,087 sf. (2013-
11/Ord. 13-8-1, 2015-05/Ord. 15-1-6, 2015-08/Ord. 15-3-7, 2017-03/Ord. 17-2-1).  This 
pattern signals a change from what was planned as a commercial corridor to a 
predominately industrial corridor.  This is in addition to the downriver side of Almedia 



Road, approximately 85% of which is zoned M-1, and reflected in the uses, which 
consist of fabrication shops, construction equipment and general open storage yards, 
warehouses, etc.  
       
The property is less than three acres and the combined area of continuous lots to 
undergo rezones to M-1 are also less than three acres.  Rezoning would not require an 
update to the future land use map. 
 
Lot K-212-3 meets the 10,000 square foot area and 100 foot width requirements for the 
M-1 zoning district.  Any future development must meet the more limiting setback 
requirements for the M-1 zoning district. 
 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION 

Approval, due to meeting the third rezoning criteria.  
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PROJECT: (name and address) CONTRACT INFORMATION: 
Contract For:    


CHANGE ORDER INFORMATION: 
Change Order Number:   


OWNER: (name and address) ARCHITECT: (name and address) CONTRACTOR: (name and address) 


THE CONTRACT IS CHANGED AS FOLLOWS: 
(Insert a detailed description of the change and, if applicable, attach or reference specific exhibits. Also include agreed 
upon adjustments attributable to executed Construction Change Directives.) 


The original                                                  was  $ 


The net change by previously authorized Change Orders $ 


The  prior to this Change Order was $ 


The       will be  by this Change Order in the amount of $ 


The new  , including this Change Order, will be $ 


The Contract Time will be  by                                      (      ) days. 


The new date of Substantial Completion will be 


NOTE: This Change Order does not include adjustments to the Contract Sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, or the 
Contract Time, that have been authorized by Construction Change Directive until the cost and time have been agreed upon 
by both the Owner and Contractor, in which case a Change Order is executed to supersede the Construction Change 
Directive. 


NOT VALID UNTIL SIGNED BY THE ARCHITECT, CONTRACTOR AND OWNER. 


ARCHITECT (Firm name) CONTRACTOR (Firm name) OWNER (Firm name) 


SIGNATURE SIGNATURE SIGNATURE 


PRINTED NAME AND TITLE PRINTED NAME AND TITLE PRINTED NAME AND TITLE 


DATE DATE DATE 


Date: Date:





		THE CONTRACT IS CHANGED AS FOLLOWS:



		ProjectName: St. Charles Parish Library Ren

		ProjectLocation: 590 Apple Street, Norco, LA

		DOD_Date: 12/06/2018 15:36:29

		DOD_Number: 2010130849

		ContractorName: J. E. Franke Constructors, LLC

		ContractorAddress: 229 Place Saint Jean

		ContractorCityStateZIP: Covington, LA  70433

		OwnerName: St. Charles Parish Government

		OwnerAddress: 15045 River Road 

		OwnerCityStateZIP: Hahnville, LA  70057

		ArchitectName: Plus One, L.L.C.

		ArchitectAddress: PO Box 40232

		ArchitectCityStateZIP: Baton Rouge, LA  70835

		ChangeOrderNumber: 004

		ContractType: Renovation/Addition of Libr

		Date: January 31, 2018

		ContractDate: 12/6/2018

		Text19: 1.  Change Order Proposal - "Demolition of all existing vingyl siding on the existing building including all underlayment's and flashing.  Provide and install all new underlayment, flashing, 074600 Exterior Siding (Hardiboard) and prepare and paint all areas."  Add $3,469.00.  Added days 10
 

		Text20: (Contract Sum) 

		Text21: 1,110,025.00

		Text23: (Contract Sum) 

		Text22: 15,975.00

		Text25: (Contract Sum) 

		Text24: 1,126,000.00

		Text26:  (increased)

		Text27: 3,469.00

		Text28: (Contract Sum) 

		Text29: 1,129,469.00

		Text30: (increased) (decreased) (unchanged)

		Text31: Ten

		Text32: 10

		Text33: December 2, 2018.

		Text34: Plus One, LLC

		Text39: J. E. Franke Constructors, LLC

		Text44: St. Charles Parish Government

		Text37: 

		Text38: 

		Text42: 

		Text43: 

		Text47: 

		Text48: 





View.ashx.pdf



St Charles Parish Library Renov
590 Apple Street, Norco, LA
C1802
0016
11.15.2018

Item #: Qty: Unit: Labor Unit: Labor Cost: Mat / Equip 
Unit:

Mat / Equip 
Cost: Sub Unit: Sub Cost:

1 lot 1,300.00 1,300.00

1 lot 645.00 645.00

1 lot 800.00 800.00

Sales Tax: 10.00%
Labor Burden: (PR Taxes & W/C Insurance) 35.00%
Insurance - General Liability: 1.00%
Insurance - Other:
Payment / Performance Bond: 3.00%

Net Overhead: 10.00%
Net Profit: 5.00%

DAYS:  10

Architect / Owner Authorization:

Authorized By: Date:

3,469$                      

Subtotal of Direct & Indirect Costs: 2,948.24$                        

Markup:
346.85$                           
173.43$                           

TOTAL OF CHANGE PROPOSAL REQUEST #: 0016

64.50$                             
-$                                 

34.69$                             

104.06$                           

2,100.00$                                   Totals:

Project Number:

Description of Change:
Remove existing vinyl siding on Gables and replace with James Hardie Siding and Trims.  Includes Scaffolding, Painting, Etc.

Date:

2,745.00$                        

Indirect Costs:  Taxes, Insurance, Bonds:

Subtotal of Direct Costs:

-$                                           645.00$                                      

Change Proposal Request - Calculation Sheet:

Change Proposal Request #:

Item Description:

J. E. Franke Constructors, LLC

Remove existing vinyl siding + install new Hardie Siding

Project Name / Location:

LG Painting, LLC:

Complete painting of new siding

New siding materials



PROPOSAL 
 

                                           
                                         LG PAINTING LLC 
                                          Slidell La, 70458 
                                      Phone:  985-377-2142 
                                       www.lgpainters.com 

Proposal Submitted To:J.E Franke Constructor  Phone: (985)893-8280               Date:  12/05/18 

Street: 422 East Lockwood St Suite 105  Job Name: Norco Library 

City, State and Zip Code: Covington LA  Job Location: Norco LA  

Work Description Price 

 
 
 
Price for paint right and left exterior gables at Norco Library  
 
 
  

 

 

 

                                                                            TOTAL PRICE          $800.00  

 



Form: MSQTE-2010.0304

ESTIMATE
215890- 1

DATE SHIPPED

FILLED BY

DELIVERED BY

TRUCK NO.

BEACH LUMBER, LLC
DBA SUNCOAST CONTRACTORS SUPPLY

5104 A AVENUE
LONG BEACH, MS 39560

PH 228-679-1240   FAX 228-679-1235
www.suncoastsupply.net

1-Florida

ACCOUNT NO. CUSTOMER SHIP TO QUOTE #

JEFRA005
JEFRA

11/27/18
05:53 pm

LOCATION CUSTOMER PO NO/ORDERED BY SOLD BY ESTIMATE EXPIRES

LN QTY DESCRIPTION ITEM NO U/M PRICE EXT

NON-TAXABLE TAXABLE TAX TOTAL

ESTIMATE DISCLAIMER: Contractor reserves the right to renegotiate install price, if atypical situations are encountered during removal of existing windows.

This estimate is designed solely to provide the contractor/consumer with a rough estimate of the amount of material used in the given project. This material estimate will be based

upon calculations or data provided by the contractor/customer and such estimate assumes, among other things, normal and typical building and construction techniques. The actual

amount of material used may vary from material estimate due to a number of factors. Consequently, no representation or warranty has been made that the actual amount of material

used will not vary from the estimate. Prices on this estimate are good for 30 days from original quote date unless otherwise noted and are subject to change without notice.

J E FRANKE CONSTRUCTORS ST CHARLES LIBRARY 215890
422 E LOCKWOOD STREET 390 APPLE STREET 11/27/18
SUITE 105 ST CHARLES PARISH 17:53
COVINGTON    LA 70433 NORCO PAGE     1

                                   97 Pat Walker
HARDI -

1     10 1 X 4 X 12 SMTH HARDITRIM        14HARDI   EACH  10.950    109.50

2     90 5-1/4 HARDI SMOOTH LAP           S050      EACH   5.950    535.50

                                                        9.450

645.00     60.96 705.96

  .



ESTIMATE

Brittany
Apple Street

Norco, Louisiana

(985) 222-5584

JR's Gutters

625 Chipley St.
Westwego, Louisiana 70094

Phone: (504) 303-9558
Email: radecker7414@gmail.com

Estimate # 000099

Date 11/29/2018

Description Total

Business Improvement $1,300.00

Removing all Siding on Gables.
Install Hardi Plank on Gables.

Subtotal $1,300.00

Total $1,300.00

Page 1 of 2
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PROJECT TITLE:                                                                                                                           OAK STREET PUMP STATION IMPROVEMENTS

PROJECT NO: P080502-18A

DATE & TIME: November 27, 2018 at 10:00am

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT

1 Mobilization 1 Lump Sum $30,000.00 $30,000.00 $210,000.00 $210,000.00 $65,000.00 $65,000.00 $40,000.00 $40,000.00

2

Remove Exist. 24" Pump, Motor, Gear Box, and 24" Discharge 

Pipe Inside Sump Area, Up to Sheet Pile Wall 1 Lump Sum $50,000.00 $50,000.00 $86,000.00 $86,000.00 $97,000.00 $97,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

3

Remove Exist. 24" Discharge Pipe, Fittings, and Couplings 

Outside Sump Area Sheet Pile Wall 70 Linear Feet $75.00 $5,250.00 $750.00 $52,500.00 $78,000.00 $5,460,000.00 $35.00 $2,450.00

4 Electrical Demolition 1 Lump Sum $9,000.00 $9,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

5

Furnish & Install New 36" Pump, Motor, Gear Box, 200-HP VFD, 

and 36" Discharge Pipe up to Sheet Pile Wall 1 Lump Sum $611,000.00 $611,000.00 $350,000.00 $350,000.00 $465,000.00 $465,000.00 $276,000.00 $276,000.00

6

Furnish & Install New 36" Steel Discharge Pipe in Existing 48" 

RCP Casing 70 Linear Feet $560.00 $39,200.00 $3,500.00 $245,000.00 $875.00 $61,250.00 $240.00 $16,800.00

7 Furnish & Install 350kW Generator with 72-hour tank 1 Lump Sum $120,000.00 $120,000.00 $145,000.00 $145,000.00 $155,000.00 $155,000.00 $105,000.00 $105,000.00

8 Furnish & Install Misc Electrical Work (400-A ATS, Jbox, CT Cab, 600-

A disconnect, MDP) 

1 Lump Sum $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $55,000.00 $55,000.00 $75,000.00 $75,000.00 $44,000.00 $44,000.00

9 Riprap at Outfall Area 10 Cubic Yard $290.00 $2,900.00 $300.00 $3,000.00 $250.00 $2,500.00 $100.00 $1,000.00

10 Railroad Flag Man 480 Manhours $155.00 $74,400.00 $185.00 $88,800.00 $100.00 $48,000.00 $130.00 $62,400.00

11 Remove and Replace 6' Chain Link Fence 40 Linear Feet $28.00 $1,120.00 $75.00 $3,000.00 $60.00 $2,400.00 $25.00 $1,000.00

12 Relocation of Infrastructure 1 Allowance $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $60,000.00

TOTAL BASE BID $1,062,870.00 $1,308,300.00 $6,509,150.00 $628,650.00

NOTE: The Bid of BLD Services, LLC, contained a unit price of $78,000 and an extended unit price also of $78,000 for Item No. 3.  Item No. 3 is a linear foot bid item, and so

     the unit price extension has been corrected hereon, based on the bid form quantity times the bid unit price.

$600,000 to $700,000

Cycle Construction Company, LLCSealevel Construction, Inc. Engineer's EstimateBLD Services, LLC

Bid Tabulation

St. Charles Parish
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ACT OF REVOCATION    UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

OF DEDICATED PROPERTY   STATE OF LOUISIANA 

BY ST. CHARLES PARISH   PARISH OF ST. CHARLES 

 

 BE IT KNOWN, that on this ______ day of the month of ________________, in 

the year two thousand nineteen (2019). 

 BEFORE ME, the undersigned Notary Public, duly commissioned and qualified, 

in and for the Parish of St. Charles, State of Louisiana, therein residing, and in the 

presence of the witnesses hereinafter named and undersigned; 

 PERSONALLY CAME AND APPEARED: 

 THE HONORABLE LARRY COCHRAN, Parish President and Chief 

Executive Officer of the Parish of St. Charles, herein duly authorized by the provisions of 

the Ordinance No. ___________ passed and adopted at a meeting of the St. Charles 

Parish Council held on ________________________________. 

 

 That pursuant to the above related ordinance, the Parish of St. Charles, through its 

governing authority, the St. Charles Parish Council, does hereby abandon and revoke the 

dedication of the undeveloped Walnut Street right of way, said 50-foot wide right of way 

extending approximately 204 feet east of Oak Street; as well as a portion of undeveloped 

Butternut Street right of way, said 50-foot wide right of way extending approximately 

204 feet east of Oak Street in Pecan Bayou Subdivision, Hahnville.  The revocation of the 

above property herein is deemed to be in the best interest of the Parish, as such property 

is no longer needed by the Public and was ordered revoked in a judgement of the 29th 

Judicial District Court filed on August 12, 2005, a copy of which is attached hereto.   

 Further, that pursuant to LA R.S. 48-701 et seq, and the St. Charles Parish Code 

of Ordinances Chapter 2 Sec. 2-4 (c) the revocation of the dedicated property is made 

unto the present owners of the land contiguous thereto. 

 THUS DONE AND SIGNED on this ______ day of _________________, 2019, 

in the Parish of St. Charles, State of Louisiana, in the presence of the undersigned 

competent witnesses and me, Notary, after a reading of the whole. 

 

WITNESSES:     ST. CHARLES PARISH 

_________________________   By:    _________________________ 

        Larry Cochran  

_________________________    Parish President 

   ____________________________ 

      NOTARY PUBLIC 

 











St. Charles Parish                         Planning Board of Commissioners                          December 6, 2018 

RECOMMENDATIONS AT A GLANCE 
 
PZS-2018-54 requested by Bayou Fleet Partnership, LLP for the revocation of Walnut 
Street east of Oak Street and the revocation of a portion of Butternut Street east of Oak 
Street and resubdivision of the revoked streets, Lots 4, 5, & 6, Blk. 5 Lots 1-6, Blk. 7, 
Pecan Bayou Subd. into Parcel A, Pecan Bayou Subd. St. Charles Parish, La. Zoning 
District R-1A. Council District 1.  
 

Planning Department Recommendation: 
 

Approval 
 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
 
Approval 
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Commissioner Booth: Next item on the agenda PZS-2018-53 requested by Bayou Fleet 
Partnership LLP for revocation of Walnut Street west of Oak Street and resubdivision of 
the revoked street, Lots 5, 6 & 7, Blk. 6, Lots 1-6, Blk. 8, Pecan Bayou into Parcel B, 
Pecan Bayou Subdivision, St. Charles Parish, La. Zoning District R-1A. Council District 
1. Ms. Stein. 
 
Ms. Stein: Thank you Mr. Chair. This application and the next application would create 2 
large parcels on what we would call a paper subdivision in Hahnville. This property was 
laid out as Pecan Bayou in the late ‘60’s. The roads and portions of the subdivision 
closer to the river were developed and houses got built. The streets in this area were 
not built and that’s Walnut Street and a portion of Butternut Street. The lots were 
subdivided but not built with houses since they didn’t have a street in front of them. In 
2004 Bayou Fleet requested a different layout than the Pecan Bayou Subdivision was 
laid out with in 1964. It had 5 lots on this parcel, Parcel B, would have had 5 lots that all 
came off of, sorry 3 lots that would have come off of Oak Street and 2 lots that would 
have used frontage from Butternut Street. That preliminary plat was approved in 2004, it 
included a revocation of Walnut Street but it also requested that the subdivision be 
allowed to go forward with open swale drainage. It was something that the parish was 
maybe pushing to discourage although it was recommended approval by the 
Department of Public Works with open swales, they had no objection to it and was 
approved as a preliminary plat by the parish Planning and Zoning Commission at the 
time with open swale. When it went forward to the parish council, the open swale was 
denied. That did not necessarily kill the preliminary plat, it just killed the ability to 
develop the subdivision with ditches instead of subsurface drainage. The developer can 
tell you his side of the story but he wanted to move forward with open swales and he 
sued the parish and was awarded a judgement that I have here that said the subdivision 
is approved with open swale and the revocation of the streets, in this case it would just 
be a portion of Walnut Street that we were talking about. The developer for, there’s a 
long story to it but the subdivision went to construction plan or construction plans were 
being prepared, those construction plans after the judgement just never got to a point 
that they were approved. As a result of all of this back and forth, and the construction of 
the subdivision not being approved, the revocation of the streets that were ordered in 
the judgement never went through its final processes. The owner now wants to sell the 
entire parcel, is what we understand, he’s creating one single parcel out of it. If anything 
else were to happen on this property, obviously it would have to come back to you if he 
wants to cut any additional lots on it or develop it in any way other than putting one 
single family house on it, that is what can happen on Parcel B if it is created. Enact the 
recommendation of the judgement or get the judgement finalized and get everything 
done, we recommend approval of the resubdivision into Parcel B, with the revocation of 
Walnut Street as it’s shown on a revised plat that has very minor changes to what’s in 
your agenda, it’s added in the vicinity map and a note about extension of utilities.  
 
Mr. Albert: Mr. Chairman, just  to summarize for the audience because there’s a lot of 
background there and for you all as well. This application is taking 9 parcels plus an 
undeveloped street and consolidating it into one parcel, so it’s rewinding the clock on 
everything that’s there, so in the end if this is approved, there will be one piece of 
ground under one ownership there, which is to simplify it a little bit.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Public hearing for PZS-2018-53, Bayou Fleet 
Partnership, for revocation of Walnut Street west of Oak Street and resubdivision of the 
revoked street, Lots 5, 6 & 7, Blk. 6, Lots 1-6, Blk. 8, Pecan Bayou into Parcel B, Pecan 
Bayou Subdivision, anyone here to speak for or against this particular issue? Would you 
state your name and address for the record please? 
 
Evening, my name is Lawrence Zeringue I live at 619 Aquarius. I’m an adjacent land 
owner to the rear of these lots. I have no objection to the revocation of this portion for 
the combination, the only concerns I have is what will happen to this lot in the future. I 
have had severe problems over the years with flooding coming off of my neighbor’s lots 
and this property here.  I have a photo here, hopefully yall can see it, this is my 
backyard 2 days after a rain. As I said, I have no objection to this, I would just like to 
know, to make sure that once this thing moves forward that something is put in to be 
able to help with the drainage of all the people on Aquarius and to actually help me, 
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because I had to dig a 6 ft. wide shallow ditch through my property to make sure I 
alleviated all that standing water.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else here to speak for or against this 
issue? Will you state your name and address for the record please ma’am. 
 
My name is Clara Daigle, I live at 633 Aquarius St., I live beside Mr. Lawrence. We’ve 
had a problem for the last few years of flooding, rain coming from the property. We only 
ask that some kind of drainage be put in between us because our water is going to 
Aquarius and their water is supposed to go to Oak but it’s all coming behind Lee’s yard 
and Mel Faucheux’s yard and we just got dirt in February or March in there and dug a 
ditch and we’re trying to get the water out because there is nowhere for it to go and if 
they put more dirt on that property, it’s going to come our way some more. So we’re just 
asking for some kind of drainage between Aquarius and Pecan Bayou to get that water 
from us. Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Booth: State your name and address for the record please. 
 
My name is James Williams, 111 Hickory Street, Hahnville. I have as the other people 
have mentioned, no problem with the man developing his property, the only concern we 
do have is that of drainage. I have a little statement here that I would like to read to the 
Planning and Zoning. It says we, James and Demica Williams, residents of 111 Hickory 
Street, Hahnville adjacent to the adjacent subdivision and I’m concerned of the following 
issues and how the property owner, Bayou Fleet, intends to clearly identify and correct 
drainage issues before proceeding or advancing the planned subdivision. Prior to this 
request, Bayou Fleet has been contacted and requested to rectify standing water on the 
back side of our property that occurs either after heavy rainfalls or several days of rain, 
with the understanding that the subdivision will have to meet Planning and Zoning 
requirements to build. Unfortunately in the past, the landowner has made their own 
attempt to circumvent the drainage issue by proposing to take matters into their own 
hands, leading to our concern for this, their integrity and their lack of concern for the 
current homeowners adjacent to the property. Several years ago, Bayou Fleet relocated 
a culvert filled ditch which in turn affected the drainage to the adjacent property owners 
on Hickory and Oak Streets. Upon neighbors noticing the flow of water backfilling the 
ditch and not draining, brought their concerns to the council at that time, voicing their 
concerns it was decided in the former council hearing under former Councilmember 
Desmond Hillaire, Bayou Fleet was required to put the culvert ditch back into its original 
state. A couple of years following Bayou Fleet decided to take another approach by 
filling the property once again having a negative affect on the adjacent property owner, 
the fill was full of bottles, cans, plastics and other trash particles that was not conducive 
to environmental cleanliness. We gave respect and did not cross the property line 
incurring an injury. This current situation still affects us today with stagnated water 
which can be breeding grounds for one of the most disease carrying mosquitoes. These 
foregoing actions leave us to question Bayou Fleet’s integrity, concern for the 
community standard of the parish, the type of housing proposed and the type of 
circumventing actions that are not transparent. I hope tonight’s Council will review 
further before voting in favor of proposed subdivision and provide answers back to us, 
the existing owners, I would be remiss if I did not close and say Bayou Fleet has cut 
down some of the grass, kept the area clear whereas rodents and other things would 
not come upon the property owners, we thank them for that but our concern mainly is 
the drainage. If they do what they’re going to do or build whatever, we want to know as 
property owners would it come back on us. Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else here to speak for or against this 
particular issue? State your name and address please. 
 
John Pechon, 122 Hickory Street. Good evening, I’ll try to make this brief. I’m sure that 
they would like to develop the property and that would be their right, but right now the 
ground is low and saturated, they’re going to have to build the property up. Already the 
ditches can’t support the drainage whenever it rains. The electrical grid back there, we 
lose electricity at least twice a month, you ask the workers why, antiquated grid and too 
many people on it. Right now unless they would be willing to come in and put new 
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sewer systems, drainage systems and update the grids, there’s no room for 
development back there.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else? State your name and address for 
the record please. 
 
My name is Robin Durant, I’m Bayou Fleet, the owner of the property. First of all we 
don’t want to develop anything we just want to sell it. We had some time ago requested 
dividing the property up but demands of the parish made it uneconomical to do it for us 
at that time. We did litigate over the revocation of the streets. My position with the parish 
is either revoke them or put them in and Judge St. Pierre agreed with me. He said hold 
the parish to either put the streets in or revoke them and he decided to revoke them and 
the parish, Bobby Raymond, was the attorney at the time, agreed to revoke the streets 
and since the open swale ditches had been in existence since 1964 the judge agreed 
they shouldn’t have to now be covered. What’s basically happened, the difficulty these 
people are referring to is particularly on Aquarius and on Hickory Street is that the 
people have built their houses and the regulations require that you grade your property 
from the rear to the front lot. So all these people that have water in their back yard is 
because they’ve turtle backed their lots and all of the water that falls on the back side or 
their back yard comes down to my property because they’re not graded forwarded and 
that is something that would have to be dealt with by some future developer. Like I said 
all I want to do is establish this resubdivision. The only thing I’m trying to address is the 
revocation of the streets, which we have a judgement from Judge St. Pierre, he directed 
the parish to revoke the streets. I didn’t realize that we had to go through the process of 
resubdivision and going in front of the Council to get approval of his judgement but 
apparently we do, which is what we’re trying to do now. I just want to sell the property, I 
don’t want to develop it, I don’t want to divide it up into 5 lots or cut it up into 10 lots, you 
know all I want to do is sell it. The only way we can do that and get a clear title is to go 
through this resubdivision and revocation of the streets. The complaints that the people 
have will be something that they should bring up in front of the Council or the Planning 
and Zoning when whoever buys the property from me comes in and want to develop it 
or build something. My belief is that what I had suggested to the parish that I do is to fill 
the lots in order that they properly drain in accordance with the regulations from the rear 
to the front ditch which is what all these other people should be doing. If they’ve turtle 
backed their lots to where they have no place for the water that falls in their backyards 
to get out to the front, then they need to deal with that. They shouldn’t ask me to deal 
with the problem developed by the turtle backing of their lots, but irrespective for some 
future developer to deal with, all I want to do is sell my property and the only way I can 
do it, the only way I can get a clear title is by going through this resubdivision which 
effectively just revokes the streets in accordance with the judgement we have. That’s all 
I really have to say. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. 
 
Mr. Durant: Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Anyone else here to speak for or against this issue? Any 
questions or comments from the Commission?  
 
Commissioner Gordon: One question, Administration, if the lot sells and whoever the 
buyer is and he or she wants to build, would they have to do a Drainage Impact 
Analysis on the lot?  
 
Ms. Stein: Likely if they build 1 single family residence which again is what would be 
permitted outright, that’s it. What he’s doing is reducing on this particular parcel 9 lots to 
1, 1 structure is permitted per lot, we’d be looking at 1 house that would not necessarily 
require a drainage impact. Should the purchaser wish to subdivide these properties 
further, yes, most likely that would require a Drainage Impact Analysis unless they come 
back to you with any more than 1 lot, anyway, but it may not be a major subdivision.  
 
Mr. Albert: Drainage Impact Analysis is an element of construction approval for when 
you’re building a major subdivision and occasionally some minor subdivisions. It’s 



St. Charles Parish Planning Board of Commissioners December 6, 2018 
 Minutes  

 

something that’s submitted to Public Works, they review it, it’s part of the set of letters 
that you get when a subdivision is brought before you. The times that we consider 
drainage are during those processes and when structures are built when we look at the 
drainage patterns, not a drainage impact analysis, that’s looking at the whole area 
where all the water is going to move between the properties and how. When we look at 
the drainage pattern on any individual lot or building that’s going up, it’s looking to make 
sure that it matches the drainage pattern that was approved as part of that analysis 
during the subdivision process. So if the assumption is that there is an issue with water 
out there right now the only way for that to actually be fixed would be to move forward 
with the process and for other structures to go up to start managing the water in an 
appropriate and modern way.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Ok. Any other questions or comments?  
 
Commissioner Granier: So what are the options to be able to satisfy the judgement but 
also protect the residents from them being able to or the concern of the drainage being 
able to be addressed with the next property owner? 
 
Mr. Albert: Not being dismissive at all of the concerns, the process is already 
established to protect them because that drainage would be reviewed. If someone came 
in and wanted to do 6 new lots there, that major subdivision is going to get reviewed 
and have a drainage impact analysis as it comes before you, so that process is already 
there. If it’s 2 or 3 homes then each one of those are going to be evaluated in the 
permitting process when we check to make sure that they are draining towards I’m 
assuming it would be Oak Street in this instance. So like I said, not to be dismissive of it 
but you really only have to act on this thing tonight because the drainage question is 
something you would deal with at a later time when that other application comes in.  
 
Commissioner Granier: Unless it’s only 1. 
 
Mr. Albert: Unless it’s only 1, correct, but they could build that 1 right now without 
coming here  
 
Commissioner Granier: I understand.  
 
Mr. Albert: And I don’t think they’d go through all of this for one. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Any other questions or comments? Call for the vote. 
 
YEAS:  Gordon, Petit, Granier, Richard, Booth, Galliano 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Frangella 
 
Commissioner Booth: That passes, Mr. Frangella is not here tonight. That goes to the 
Council, the final approval will be done by the Parish Council.  

Commissioner Booth: Next item on the agenda PZS-2018-54 requested by Bayou Fleet 
Partnership, LLP for the revocation of Walnut Street east of Oak Street and the 
revocation of a portion of Butternut Street east of Oak Street and resubdivision of the 
revoked streets, Lots 4, 5, & 6, Blk. 5 Lots 1-6, Blk. 7, Pecan Bayou Subd. into Parcel A, 
Pecan Bayou Subd. St. Charles Parish, La. Zoning District R-1A. Council District 1. Ms. 
Stein. 
 
Ms. Stein: Thank you Mr. Chair. This application is very similar to the last application, 
the only difference is that it revokes both an undeveloped portion of Walnut Street with 
the addition of an undeveloped portion of Butternut Street. The plat that you have in 
your agenda on page 38, at the 11th hour we noticed that the entire right of way of 
Butternut was not being dissolved into Parcel A. We got with the applicant, he was 
extremely accommodating. He owns huge, vast amounts of land on the opposite side of 
Butternut Street but did and intended to keep that 16 ft. of Butternut Street, that’s 
procedurally difficult, it doesn’t really meet the letter of the law, we asked him to please 
put it in with Parcel A which he did and we recommend approval again. Thanks. 
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Commissioner Booth: Thank you. Public hearing for PZS-2018-54 for Bayou Fleet, 
same as the last one we had but this one is the revocation of Walnut Street east of Oak 
Street and Butternut Street east of Oak and the lots have been stated. Anyone here to 
speak for or against.  
 
Lawrence Zeringue, 619 Aquarius. Currently and has happened in the past along 
Butternut Street there is a drainage structure, an 18 inch culvert existing now, it used to 
be open many years ago. That culvert to my knowledge and from looking at it this 
morning is actually still within the right of way and is still draining most of Oak Street and 
to some extent probably some of Aquarius. I would also ask since the applicant 
requested a change for the drawing, Marny did he respond that he knew that Mr. Durant 
was going to revoke the entire right of way of Butternut?  
 
Ms. Stein: Yes, that is the application, the entire right of way.  
 
Mr. Zeringue: Currently Butternut Street has been gated off. Public Works has been 
unable for the past several years to get in there and do any maintenance to the culvert. 
The culvert does drain Oak Street and in my opinion is needed by the parish. Also, the 
original drawing here would show just a 16 ft. remaining dedicated for Butternut. I 
believe if the parish were to maintain that culvert and get in there that is not a big 
enough of an area to run heavy equipment, dump trucks without running it over the 
catch basins and culvert itself. For the remainder of the property, I personally have no 
objection. I think it was also recommended many, many, years ago that Butternut not be 
revoked and it’s generally because of this because if this right of way were to be 
removed, anyone, the next property owner could remove that pipe and severely hamper 
the drainage for area and this would send all of the water coming down Oak Street 
almost all the way to River Road coming down Butternut and down through Aquarius. 
There has been issues I’ve noticed where high water and flooding just along Butternut 
because of something like this. At the intersection of Oak Street and Butternut there’s 2 
24 in. pipes coming in and there’s 1 18 in going out. In my opinion the parish does need 
at least Butternut to at least maintain drainage for the area. Thank you.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Anyone else to speak for or against this issue? State your name 
and address again please. 
 
My name is Robin Durant, I live on River Road in Hahnville. I really would just like to 
address a few of the comments that the gentleman made. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Yes. 
 
Mr. Durant: The culvert that he’s referring to is for the most part on my private property, 
it runs about 400 ft. I spent about $150K putting it in, the last thing I want to do is 
remove it. Since I’ve been in this parish everything I’ve done has been a dramatic 
improvement to the parish and to my business and to several residences that I rebuilt 
on River Road, my farm property, what was back there was just a fallow, horrible, ex-
cane field that was used as dump by the neighborhood, it’s a beautiful farm now and the 
last thing that I want to do is to flood my own property. The implication that I’m doing 
things to damage or to harm, to flood is just ludicrous, everything I’ve done has 
improved the flow of water. The simple fact of the matter is that the judgement was 7 or 
8 years ago, revoked the street and the right of way and you can’t revoke part of the 
street, it’s either revoked or it’s not revoked. If the parish had wanted to retain 
ownership of some part of the street they could have appealed the judgement but that 
was 7 or 8 years ago. I think we’re beyond whether or not the parish needs the right of 
way or needs the drainage but irrespective of all that I have no intention of doing 
anything to drainage, frankly the drainage back there is very good. That culvert is the 
subject of I hate to even mention it, but other litigation that I’ve had with the parish and 
there’s a settlement agreement which was entered in between my company and the 
parish when St. Pierre was Parish President and it covers that ditch and the agreement 
I have with the parish concerning not that ditch, the culvert and a number of other 
ditches. I just ask that you approve my request here and let me go ahead and sell my 
piece of property in accordance with the judgement that was issued 6, 7, 8 whatever it 
was years ago. Thank you. 
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Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else here to speak for or against this 
issue? Any questions or comments from the Commission?  
 
Commissioner Granier: I’m going culvert crazy I guess. So what is exactly on his private 
property and what’s part of a right of way that may or may not exist after tonight, I’m 
confused about the culvert.  
 
Mr. Zeringue: Exactly what’s the question pertaining?  
 
Commissioner Granier: You have a concern about the culvert being removed, so what 
is the question about the culvert? 
 
Mr. Zeringue: The main issue I have is whether or not because it does handle public 
drainage and I just like to make sure that the parish actually has the ability to go in there 
on its own volition to clean it if they need to, if they so deem that it needs to be larger, it 
would be on their nickel to go in and replace it, that’s the main thing. We have actual 
drainage that’s on public right of way and we’ve never been able to determine if it’s 
100% on or off the servitude, I mean the right of way, I’m sorry.  
 
Commissioner Granier: So this culvert we’re discussing he’s saying is on his private 
property. 
 
Mr. Zeringue: That is the 18 inch culvert that I was referring to when I was speaking. 
Historically the water would come down Oak Street and would turn towards Julia Street 
and then from there I imagine that it did go through Mr. Durant’s property to actually get 
to the Crawfish Canal in the back, way in the back to the properties. Crawfish Canal is 
also considered the 40 Arpent Canal. As I’ve said I don’t have any objections to it, I just 
like to make sure that the parish is actually able to have access to maintain as needed. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Any other questions or comments?  
 
Mr. Durant: Part of the litigation that I had with the parish was looking at servitudes. The 
parish did come to the conclusion that they got no servitude on any of this property back 
there. There was a drainage servitude on one side or both sides of Butternut Street, just 
like there’s a drainage servitude on the side of every street, but when the street’s 
revoked, that’s revoked and it was revoked 7 or 8 years ago. The culvert that I put in is 
along where the right of way used to be, but when I put it in the judgement for the 
revocation had already been issued, technically yes I hadn’t gone in front of the Council 
or in front of you to get the judgement confirmed or whatever you want to call it, the 
resubdivision but I considered it my property when I put in the culvert and like I say the 
culvert that I put in runs not only on that little piece, I guess it’s about 200 ft. on 
Butternut, where Butternut Street is about 200 ft. from Oak to the section he’s talking 
about, the culvert I put in runs all the way 100 ft. past Julia Street and then runs about 
250-300 ft. right through the middle of my property at a right angle to Butternut Street 
tying into a farm, sugar cane field, ditch that I tied the culvert into. It was created 
because the parish years ago came on my property without permission, without a 
servitude, without any right of way or anything and they cut the ditch and it was their 
position that since it had been there for so many years that it was their ditch but what 
happened is the ditch ran along Butternut Street and then it made a right angle and 
when the water would run and it would rain real hard, it was creating a big swirl, a big 
cut out and all of my property was beginning to cave in and then it was getting washed 
away and then as it ran down the ditch towards the back of my property, it was creating 
some other problems where it went underneath another road that I wanted to tie into so 
what was happening is I had a fence that was slowing eroding away and falling into the 
ditch, I had a big swirl back at the end on my property and I had the right angle at the 
end of Julia Street which is why I spent $150K putting in the culvert, but I put it in on my 
own property, didn’t ask for the parish to pay for it, didn’t ask for any of that. As far as 
his comment about that parish being able to get in there, if the parish wants to get in to 
my property, they can come in, they have keys to the locks on my gates. I don’t stop 
them from coming in, but frankly I maintain my property, they don’t need to come in. I 
think the last time the parish came in, Chris Tregre, asked if I wanted him to come in 
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and I had just cleaned out the ditches and kept the grass all cut but I don’t have one of 
those bush hogs that can cut on the ditch on an articulated arm that will cut along the 
ditches and he asked would you like me to come in and cut the brush out of the ditch 
and I said that would be great, yeah, and so 2 days later they came and the parish cut 
the trash out of the ditch, cleaned it up, but I don’t stop the parish from coming in and 
maintaining drainage ditches, that would be stupid, it’s draining my property too. I just 
think the gentleman doesn’t understand the situation and once again all I’m really trying 
to do is get the judgement formalized so I can sell this little piece of property and I’m not 
going to plug up the ditch.  
 
Commissioner Granier: I do have another question in general, I’m sorry. So that 
subdivision drainage goes through his culvert, am I getting that right or am I totally lost?  
 
Mr. Durant: There was one other thing, the gentleman said that all the water that comes 
down Oak Street goes into that culvert, down Butternut, over pass Julia and onto my 
property, that’s half true. One side of Oak Street drains that way. The master drainage 
plan provides for the other side of Oak Street to go down Butternut in the other direction 
over to Aquarius and tie into the other end, another ditch that runs perpendicular to it. I 
can show you on this drawing right here that Oak Street comes down here and half of 
the water on the up side of Oak Street, the water should run this way and on the down 
side of Oak Street it should go into the culvert then onto my property and then over to 
the Hahn Street ditch. So half of the water comes down Oak Street is supposed to go 
on the up river side of Oak Street to a ditch towards Aquarius and on the other side it 
can go onto my property.  That’s the way it is today. 
 
Commissioner Granier: That’s the way it’s going to be  
 
Mr. Durant: until somebody else changes it because I’m not going to change it. 
 
Commissioner Richard: You’re talking about the culvert, not an open swale ditch  
 
Mr. Durant: The culvert I put in, I put the culvert in because of the right angle turn 
because it was digging a huge big hole on my property. 
 
Commissioner Richard: If you sell the property though, who owns the culvert then? I’m 
getting confused where the culvert is laying on the property line. 
 
Mr. Durant: About 100 ft. section of the culvert will be on the block and there is no 
servitude, there is no parish servitude, it’s my ditch, it’s my culvert and I’m not going to 
tear it up, why would I do that? 
 
Mr. Zeringue: I have a slight rebuttal. I do know the master drainage plan very well. 
There is no discernable information as to which way the water goes one way or the 
other. At one time there was in my opinion a relatively large ditch that Mr. Durant had 
with the 18 in. pipe put in and naturally some of the water probably does come towards 
Aquarius, I’m not going to deny that that is possibly existing. So my thing is I just want to 
make sure that the parish is able to maintain it as I said if we need to.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else with comments or questions? State 
your name and address again please. 
 
John Pechon, 122 Hickory Street. I’ll make this brief. It seems like and I understand you 
want to sell your property but he’s saying all the neighborhood drainage comes and just 
trust me I’m not going to do anything to impede that or tear it up or anything else, that’s 
fine but he wanting to sell the property, what about the next guy? Shouldn’t there be 
some type of stipulation?  
 
Commissioner Booth: It’s been stated earlier that drainage or drainage study would be 
done if any construction would take place. Anyone else have a comment or question? 
Call for the vote. 
 
Mr. Albert: Just to clarify that was closing the public hearing. 
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Commissioner Booth: Yes the public hearing is now closed. 
 
YEAS:  Gordon, Petit, Granier, Richard, Booth Galliano 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Frangella 
 
Commissioner Booth: And that goes to the Council, Mr. Frangella is not here tonight. 
 



St. Charles Parish 
Department of Planning & Zoning 
 

LAND USE REPORT 
CASE NUMBER: PZS-2018-54 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

 Name/Address of Applicant   Application Date: 11/01/18 
Bayou Fleet Partnership, LLC 
P.O. Box 446 
Hahnville, LA 70057 
(985)-783-6403; rbd@bayoufleet.com 

 

 Location of Site 
The southern portion of Pecan Bayou Subdivision; Oak Street, near Butternut Street, 
Hahnville. 
 

 Requested Action 
Resubdivision of Lots 4, 5, 6, Block 5, Lots 1 thru 7, Block 7, unimproved Walnut 
Street and unimproved Butternut Street, Pecan Bayou Subdivision, into Parcel A. 
 

SITE INFORMATION 

 Size of Parcel 
Proposed Parcel A:  84,519 square feet, 413.92 feet wide on Oak Street.  

 

 Current Zoning and Land Use 
R-1A, Single Family Residential – Detached Conventional Homes; site is cleared but 
undeveloped. 
 

 Surrounding Zoning and Land Use 
R-1A, Single Family Residential zoning is adjacent to the front, rear, and Hickory 
Street sides; O-L, Open Land zoning is adjacent to the Butternut Street side.  
 
Site built single family houses are developed adjacent to the rear and Hickory Street 
sides; the land to the front across Oak Street and adjacent to the Butternut Street 
side is cleared but undeveloped. 
   

 Plan 2030 Recommendation 
Low Density Residential: This category includes the Parish’s predominantly single 
family detached subdivisions, including those developed consistent with the R-1A 
(6,000 sq. ft. minimum lot size) and R-1B (10,000 sq. ft. minimum lot size) zoning 
districts.  It also allows accessory units and individual mobile homes on small platted 
lots zoned R-1AM.  Neighborhood-serving uses such as neighborhood parks, 
churches and servitudes may also be included in this land use category. 
 

 Traffic Access  
Frontage and access for the proposed lot is provided from Oak Street. 
 

 Utilities 
 Standard utilities are available and adequate to serve proposed Parcel A along Oak 
 Street.  There are no public utilities along the undeveloped portions of Walnut Street 
 or  Butternut Street that are within proposed Parcel A. 
 

APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 
Appendix C. Section II. Subdivision Procedure  C. Minor Resubdivisions.   
1. In instances where a net increase of five (5) or fewer lots is proposed by subdivision or resubdivision 
and no new or additional public improvements are required, no formal preliminary plat shall be required. 
The plan of resubdivision shall comply with requirements outlined in section II.C.3 of this section, and with 
all relevant land use regulations, including the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision 
Regulations. The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve or deny the application. The basis for 
denial shall be stated at the meeting and on the record of the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
3. Subdivisions and resubdivisions which meet the guidelines contained in Section II.C. of these 

regulations shall be presented to the Department of Planning and Zoning in the form of a plan which 



conforms to the laws of the State of Louisiana governing surveying, platting, and subdivision of land. 
The proposed subdivision shall contain the following information: 
a. Location of the property. 
b. Name(s) and address(es) of the owners. 
c. Name and address of the Land Surveyor preparing the plan as well as the date the survey was 

prepared. The survey shall be dated within one (1) year of the subdivision application date.  
d. Existing property lines and lot numbers, including names and width of adjoining streets. 
e. Proposed property lines and revised numbers of proposed lots. 
f.   Location and dimensions of existing buildings. 
g. Layout and dimensions of all existing, proposed, and required servitudes and rights-of-way, 

including but not limited to servitudes for sidewalks, utilities, access, drainage ditches, and 
canals.  

h. Existing lakes and ponds. 
i.   North arrow and scale. 
j. The following note shall be added to all resubdivision maps: All necessary sewer, water and/or 

other utility extensions, relocations or modifications shall be made solely at the lot owner's 
expense. 

k. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan. For Minor Subdivisions that involve more than one (1) acre, 
the MS4 Administrator may require the submittal of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
and/or Post Construction Stormwater Permit, including all required documentation, in accordance 
with Chapter 25—Stormwater Management and Erosion and Sedimentation Control.  

 
III. - Geometric standards. 
C. Lots:  
1. Size. The width, depth, area, and minimum building setback line shall conform to the St. Charles 

Parish Zoning Ordinance for the type of development.  
 a. Corner Lot. Corner lots shall have extra width to permit setback lines on the side of the lots  

adjacent to a side street. The extra width shall be sufficient to allow the lot to meet the minimum 
zoning requirements of the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance excluding the side street setback 
distance.  

 b. Width. The lot width at the minimum building setback line shall not be less than that specified by 
the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance.  

2. Lot Lines. All lot side lines shall be at right angles to straight street lines or radial to curved street 
lines unless a variation is approved in writing by the Commission.  

3. Large Lots. When a parcel of land is subdivided into large lots, the Commission may require the 
shape and dimensions of the lots arranged so that resubdivision of any lots will meet the 
requirements of these Regulations and the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance. 

 
[I.] R-1A. Single family residential detached conventional homes—Medium density.  
2. Spatial Requirements: 

a. Minimum lot size: Six thousand (6,000) square feet per family; minimum width—sixty (60) feet  
b. Minimum yard sizes: 

(1) Front—Twenty (20) feet 
(2) Side—Five (5) feet 
(3) Rear—Twenty (20) feet 
(4) For lots with less than one hundred (100) feet depth, front setback and rear setback shall be 

twenty (20) percent of lot depth respectively with a minimum of ten (10) feet to the front lot 
line and five (5) feet to the rear lot line.  

(5) Whenever property abuts a major drainage canal as defined by the Subdivision regulations 
the required setback for all structures shall be ten (10) feet measured from the inner 
boundary of such servitude or right-of-way, not withstanding any other more restrictive 
setbacks, this provision shall not apply to any lot of record created and existing prior to the 
effective date of Ordinance No. 99-12-8, December 15, 1999.   

c. Accessory buildings: 
(1) An accessory building may occupy no more than twenty-five (25) percent of the required rear 

yard.  
(2) The accessory building shall not exceed two-story construction. 
(3) Minimum setback of accessory buildings including overhangs, shall be three (3) feet.   
(4) Nonresidential accessory buildings shall not be permitted. 

d. Permitted encroachments: 
(1) Overhangs projecting not more than twenty-four (24) inches, excluding gutter. For accessory 

buildings, overhangs shall not be closer than three (3) feet to any property line.  
(2) Stairs and landings not more than three (3) feet in height, projecting no more than four (4) 

feet into required front or rear yard. 
 

Administrative Code, Sec. 2-4. - Procedure to dedicate, or revoke dedication of street, 
canal, etc. 
(a)  A formal act of dedication shall be filed by any person requesting the parish council to 
 accept for maintenance streets and drainage using the following format: 

(1)  The act shall state the name of the person dedicating the street or drainage. 
(2)  The act shall contain a description of the property in which the street or drainage is 
located. 
(3)  The act shall state the name of the street, the width and length to be accepted. 
(4)  All drainage ditches shall be properly marked with widths shown. The dedication shall 
spell out the width and length of each ditch. 

https://library.municode.com/la/st._charles_parish/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIIPACO_CH25STMAERSECO


(5)  Two (2) updated maps shall be submitted to accompany each act of dedication. These 
maps shall give a description of the area including section, tract and range lines; name of 
subdivision, if applicable; date; civil engineer or surveyor; title; north point of compass and 
scale of map. 

(b)  Prior to a request for the parish to assume for maintenance any street or drainage, it shall 
 be necessary for the parish engineers to certify that the street or drainage meets parish 
 specifications. 
(c)  Acts of revocation on streets, drainage ditches or canals shall contain the same information 
 as requested for acts of dedication and shall be accompanied by the submission of a 
 subdivision plan which shall be executed through the local subdivision process, formally 
 incorporating revoked properties into adjacent parcels. 
 

ANALYSIS 

The applicant proposes a minor resubdivision to create one parcel, Parcel A, out of nine 
(9) lots and a portion of unimproved Walnut Street and Butternut Street.  Parcel A 
exceeds the area and width requirements for the R-1A zoning district and meets 
geometric standards for lots. 
 
The property was laid out as Pecan Bayou in the late 60s.  The roads and portions of 
Pecan Bayou Subdivision closer to the river were developed with houses.  The streets 
in this area, Walnut Street and a portion of Butternut Street, were not built, so the lots 
were never developed. 
 
In 2004, Bayou Fleet requested a different layout of five (5) larger lots under proposed 
Parcel A all fronting Oak Street (as well as five larger lots under Parcel B proposed in 
PZS 2018-53 fronting both Oak Street and the developed portion of Butternut Street). 
The Preliminary Plat of the new lot layout was approved.  While this conceptual layout 
of new lots, including the revocation of the streets, was approved, the subdivision was 
proposed with open-swale drainage which was denied (PZS-2004-58). 
 
The applicant appealed and received a judgement by the 29th Judicial District Court, 
filed on August 12, 2005, which granted approval of the subdivision, as laid out, with the 
revocation of streets and the open swale drainage.  A Preliminary Plat expires after six 
(6) months if it does not request construction approval, final plat approval, or has no 
other activity.  The Department has found no record of either request in that time frame.  
As a result, the formal revocation of the streets did not occur. 
 
In order to create Parcels A and B as presented, with the portions of the undeveloped 
but dedicated street rights-of-way within them, the revocation process has to be 
completed through this process of resubdivision with an ordinance revoking the streets. 
 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION 

Approval. 
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ACT OF REVOCATION    UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

OF DEDICATED PROPERTY   STATE OF LOUISIANA 

BY ST. CHARLES PARISH   PARISH OF ST. CHARLES 

 

 BE IT KNOWN, that on this ______ day of the month of ________________, in 

the year two thousand nineteen (2019). 

 BEFORE ME, the undersigned Notary Public, duly commissioned and qualified, 

in and for the Parish of St. Charles, State of Louisiana, therein residing, and in the 

presence of the witnesses hereinafter named and undersigned; 

 PERSONALLY CAME AND APPEARED: 

 THE HONORABLE LARRY COCHRAN, Parish President and Chief 

Executive Officer of the Parish of St. Charles, herein duly authorized by the provisions of 

the Ordinance No. ___________ passed and adopted at a meeting of the St. Charles 

Parish Council held on ________________________________. 

 

 That pursuant to the above related ordinance, the Parish of St. Charles, through its 

governing authority, the St. Charles Parish Council, does hereby abandon and revoke the 

dedication of the undeveloped Walnut Street right of way, said 50-foot wide right of way 

extending approximately 220 feet west of Oak Street in Pecan Bayou Subdivision, 

Hahnville.  The revocation of the above property herein is deemed to be in the best 

interest of the Parish, as such property is no longer needed by the Public and was ordered 

revoked in a judgement of the 29th Judicial District Court filed on August 12, 2005, a 

copy of which is attached hereto.   

 Further, that pursuant to LA R.S. 48-701 et seq, and the St. Charles Parish Code 

of Ordinances Chapter 2 Sec. 2-4 (c) the revocation of the dedicated property is made 

unto the present owners of the land contiguous thereto. 

 THUS DONE AND SIGNED on this ______ day of _________________, 2019, 

in the Parish of St. Charles, State of Louisiana, in the presence of the undersigned 

competent witnesses and me, Notary, after a reading of the whole. 

 

WITNESSES:     ST. CHARLES PARISH 

_________________________   By:    _________________________ 

        Larry Cochran  

_________________________    Parish President 

   ____________________________ 

      NOTARY PUBLIC 
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RECOMMENDATIONS AT A GLANCE 
 
PZS-2018-53 requested by Bayou Fleet Partnership LLP for revocation of Walnut 
Street west of Oak Street and resubdivision of the revoked street, Lots 5, 6 & 7, Blk. 6, 
Lots 1-6, Blk. 8, Pecan Bayou into Parcel B, Pecan Bayou Subdivision, St. Charles 
Parish, La. Zoning District R-1A. Council  District 1. 
 

Planning Department Recommendation: 
 

Approval 
 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
 
Approval 
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Commissioner Booth: Next item on the agenda PZS-2018-53 requested by Bayou Fleet 
Partnership LLP for revocation of Walnut Street west of Oak Street and resubdivision of 
the revoked street, Lots 5, 6 & 7, Blk. 6, Lots 1-6, Blk. 8, Pecan Bayou into Parcel B, 
Pecan Bayou Subdivision, St. Charles Parish, La. Zoning District R-1A. Council District 
1. Ms. Stein. 
 
Ms. Stein: Thank you Mr. Chair. This application and the next application would create 2 
large parcels on what we would call a paper subdivision in Hahnville. This property was 
laid out as Pecan Bayou in the late ‘60’s. The roads and portions of the subdivision 
closer to the river were developed and houses got built. The streets in this area were 
not built and that’s Walnut Street and a portion of Butternut Street. The lots were 
subdivided but not built with houses since they didn’t have a street in front of them. In 
2004 Bayou Fleet requested a different layout than the Pecan Bayou Subdivision was 
laid out with in 1964. It had 5 lots on this parcel, Parcel B, would have had 5 lots that all 
came off of, sorry 3 lots that would have come off of Oak Street and 2 lots that would 
have used frontage from Butternut Street. That preliminary plat was approved in 2004, it 
included a revocation of Walnut Street but it also requested that the subdivision be 
allowed to go forward with open swale drainage. It was something that the parish was 
maybe pushing to discourage although it was recommended approval by the 
Department of Public Works with open swales, they had no objection to it and was 
approved as a preliminary plat by the parish Planning and Zoning Commission at the 
time with open swale. When it went forward to the parish council, the open swale was 
denied. That did not necessarily kill the preliminary plat, it just killed the ability to 
develop the subdivision with ditches instead of subsurface drainage. The developer can 
tell you his side of the story but he wanted to move forward with open swales and he 
sued the parish and was awarded a judgement that I have here that said the subdivision 
is approved with open swale and the revocation of the streets, in this case it would just 
be a portion of Walnut Street that we were talking about. The developer for, there’s a 
long story to it but the subdivision went to construction plan or construction plans were 
being prepared, those construction plans after the judgement just never got to a point 
that they were approved. As a result of all of this back and forth, and the construction of 
the subdivision not being approved, the revocation of the streets that were ordered in 
the judgement never went through its final processes. The owner now wants to sell the 
entire parcel, is what we understand, he’s creating one single parcel out of it. If anything 
else were to happen on this property, obviously it would have to come back to you if he 
wants to cut any additional lots on it or develop it in any way other than putting one 
single family house on it, that is what can happen on Parcel B if it is created. Enact the 
recommendation of the judgement or get the judgement finalized and get everything 
done, we recommend approval of the resubdivision into Parcel B, with the revocation of 
Walnut Street as it’s shown on a revised plat that has very minor changes to what’s in 
your agenda, it’s added in the vicinity map and a note about extension of utilities.  
 
Mr. Albert: Mr. Chairman, just  to summarize for the audience because there’s a lot of 
background there and for you all as well. This application is taking 9 parcels plus an 
undeveloped street and consolidating it into one parcel, so it’s rewinding the clock on 
everything that’s there, so in the end if this is approved, there will be one piece of 
ground under one ownership there, which is to simplify it a little bit.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Public hearing for PZS-2018-53, Bayou Fleet 
Partnership, for revocation of Walnut Street west of Oak Street and resubdivision of the 
revoked street, Lots 5, 6 & 7, Blk. 6, Lots 1-6, Blk. 8, Pecan Bayou into Parcel B, Pecan 
Bayou Subdivision, anyone here to speak for or against this particular issue? Would you 
state your name and address for the record please? 
 
Evening, my name is Lawrence Zeringue I live at 619 Aquarius. I’m an adjacent land 
owner to the rear of these lots. I have no objection to the revocation of this portion for 
the combination, the only concerns I have is what will happen to this lot in the future. I 
have had severe problems over the years with flooding coming off of my neighbor’s lots 
and this property here.  I have a photo here, hopefully yall can see it, this is my 
backyard 2 days after a rain. As I said, I have no objection to this, I would just like to 
know, to make sure that once this thing moves forward that something is put in to be 
able to help with the drainage of all the people on Aquarius and to actually help me, 
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because I had to dig a 6 ft. wide shallow ditch through my property to make sure I 
alleviated all that standing water.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else here to speak for or against this 
issue? Will you state your name and address for the record please ma’am. 
 
My name is Clara Daigle, I live at 633 Aquarius St., I live beside Mr. Lawrence. We’ve 
had a problem for the last few years of flooding, rain coming from the property. We only 
ask that some kind of drainage be put in between us because our water is going to 
Aquarius and their water is supposed to go to Oak but it’s all coming behind Lee’s yard 
and Mel Faucheux’s yard and we just got dirt in February or March in there and dug a 
ditch and we’re trying to get the water out because there is nowhere for it to go and if 
they put more dirt on that property, it’s going to come our way some more. So we’re just 
asking for some kind of drainage between Aquarius and Pecan Bayou to get that water 
from us. Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Booth: State your name and address for the record please. 
 
My name is James Williams, 111 Hickory Street, Hahnville. I have as the other people 
have mentioned, no problem with the man developing his property, the only concern we 
do have is that of drainage. I have a little statement here that I would like to read to the 
Planning and Zoning. It says we, James and Demica Williams, residents of 111 Hickory 
Street, Hahnville adjacent to the adjacent subdivision and I’m concerned of the following 
issues and how the property owner, Bayou Fleet, intends to clearly identify and correct 
drainage issues before proceeding or advancing the planned subdivision. Prior to this 
request, Bayou Fleet has been contacted and requested to rectify standing water on the 
back side of our property that occurs either after heavy rainfalls or several days of rain, 
with the understanding that the subdivision will have to meet Planning and Zoning 
requirements to build. Unfortunately in the past, the landowner has made their own 
attempt to circumvent the drainage issue by proposing to take matters into their own 
hands, leading to our concern for this, their integrity and their lack of concern for the 
current homeowners adjacent to the property. Several years ago, Bayou Fleet relocated 
a culvert filled ditch which in turn affected the drainage to the adjacent property owners 
on Hickory and Oak Streets. Upon neighbors noticing the flow of water backfilling the 
ditch and not draining, brought their concerns to the council at that time, voicing their 
concerns it was decided in the former council hearing under former Councilmember 
Desmond Hillaire, Bayou Fleet was required to put the culvert ditch back into its original 
state. A couple of years following Bayou Fleet decided to take another approach by 
filling the property once again having a negative affect on the adjacent property owner, 
the fill was full of bottles, cans, plastics and other trash particles that was not conducive 
to environmental cleanliness. We gave respect and did not cross the property line 
incurring an injury. This current situation still affects us today with stagnated water 
which can be breeding grounds for one of the most disease carrying mosquitoes. These 
foregoing actions leave us to question Bayou Fleet’s integrity, concern for the 
community standard of the parish, the type of housing proposed and the type of 
circumventing actions that are not transparent. I hope tonight’s Council will review 
further before voting in favor of proposed subdivision and provide answers back to us, 
the existing owners, I would be remiss if I did not close and say Bayou Fleet has cut 
down some of the grass, kept the area clear whereas rodents and other things would 
not come upon the property owners, we thank them for that but our concern mainly is 
the drainage. If they do what they’re going to do or build whatever, we want to know as 
property owners would it come back on us. Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else here to speak for or against this 
particular issue? State your name and address please. 
 
John Pechon, 122 Hickory Street. Good evening, I’ll try to make this brief. I’m sure that 
they would like to develop the property and that would be their right, but right now the 
ground is low and saturated, they’re going to have to build the property up. Already the 
ditches can’t support the drainage whenever it rains. The electrical grid back there, we 
lose electricity at least twice a month, you ask the workers why, antiquated grid and too 
many people on it. Right now unless they would be willing to come in and put new 
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sewer systems, drainage systems and update the grids, there’s no room for 
development back there.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else? State your name and address for 
the record please. 
 
My name is Robin Durant, I’m Bayou Fleet, the owner of the property. First of all we 
don’t want to develop anything we just want to sell it. We had some time ago requested 
dividing the property up but demands of the parish made it uneconomical to do it for us 
at that time. We did litigate over the revocation of the streets. My position with the parish 
is either revoke them or put them in and Judge St. Pierre agreed with me. He said hold 
the parish to either put the streets in or revoke them and he decided to revoke them and 
the parish, Bobby Raymond, was the attorney at the time, agreed to revoke the streets 
and since the open swale ditches had been in existence since 1964 the judge agreed 
they shouldn’t have to now be covered. What’s basically happened, the difficulty these 
people are referring to is particularly on Aquarius and on Hickory Street is that the 
people have built their houses and the regulations require that you grade your property 
from the rear to the front lot. So all these people that have water in their back yard is 
because they’ve turtle backed their lots and all of the water that falls on the back side or 
their back yard comes down to my property because they’re not graded forwarded and 
that is something that would have to be dealt with by some future developer. Like I said 
all I want to do is establish this resubdivision. The only thing I’m trying to address is the 
revocation of the streets, which we have a judgement from Judge St. Pierre, he directed 
the parish to revoke the streets. I didn’t realize that we had to go through the process of 
resubdivision and going in front of the Council to get approval of his judgement but 
apparently we do, which is what we’re trying to do now. I just want to sell the property, I 
don’t want to develop it, I don’t want to divide it up into 5 lots or cut it up into 10 lots, you 
know all I want to do is sell it. The only way we can do that and get a clear title is to go 
through this resubdivision and revocation of the streets. The complaints that the people 
have will be something that they should bring up in front of the Council or the Planning 
and Zoning when whoever buys the property from me comes in and want to develop it 
or build something. My belief is that what I had suggested to the parish that I do is to fill 
the lots in order that they properly drain in accordance with the regulations from the rear 
to the front ditch which is what all these other people should be doing. If they’ve turtle 
backed their lots to where they have no place for the water that falls in their backyards 
to get out to the front, then they need to deal with that. They shouldn’t ask me to deal 
with the problem developed by the turtle backing of their lots, but irrespective for some 
future developer to deal with, all I want to do is sell my property and the only way I can 
do it, the only way I can get a clear title is by going through this resubdivision which 
effectively just revokes the streets in accordance with the judgement we have. That’s all 
I really have to say. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. 
 
Mr. Durant: Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Anyone else here to speak for or against this issue? Any 
questions or comments from the Commission?  
 
Commissioner Gordon: One question, Administration, if the lot sells and whoever the 
buyer is and he or she wants to build, would they have to do a Drainage Impact 
Analysis on the lot?  
 
Ms. Stein: Likely if they build 1 single family residence which again is what would be 
permitted outright, that’s it. What he’s doing is reducing on this particular parcel 9 lots to 
1, 1 structure is permitted per lot, we’d be looking at 1 house that would not necessarily 
require a drainage impact. Should the purchaser wish to subdivide these properties 
further, yes, most likely that would require a Drainage Impact Analysis unless they come 
back to you with any more than 1 lot, anyway, but it may not be a major subdivision.  
 
Mr. Albert: Drainage Impact Analysis is an element of construction approval for when 
you’re building a major subdivision and occasionally some minor subdivisions. It’s 
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something that’s submitted to Public Works, they review it, it’s part of the set of letters 
that you get when a subdivision is brought before you. The times that we consider 
drainage are during those processes and when structures are built when we look at the 
drainage patterns, not a drainage impact analysis, that’s looking at the whole area 
where all the water is going to move between the properties and how. When we look at 
the drainage pattern on any individual lot or building that’s going up, it’s looking to make 
sure that it matches the drainage pattern that was approved as part of that analysis 
during the subdivision process. So if the assumption is that there is an issue with water 
out there right now the only way for that to actually be fixed would be to move forward 
with the process and for other structures to go up to start managing the water in an 
appropriate and modern way.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Ok. Any other questions or comments?  
 
Commissioner Granier: So what are the options to be able to satisfy the judgement but 
also protect the residents from them being able to or the concern of the drainage being 
able to be addressed with the next property owner? 
 
Mr. Albert: Not being dismissive at all of the concerns, the process is already 
established to protect them because that drainage would be reviewed. If someone came 
in and wanted to do 6 new lots there, that major subdivision is going to get reviewed 
and have a drainage impact analysis as it comes before you, so that process is already 
there. If it’s 2 or 3 homes then each one of those are going to be evaluated in the 
permitting process when we check to make sure that they are draining towards I’m 
assuming it would be Oak Street in this instance. So like I said, not to be dismissive of it 
but you really only have to act on this thing tonight because the drainage question is 
something you would deal with at a later time when that other application comes in.  
 
Commissioner Granier: Unless it’s only 1. 
 
Mr. Albert: Unless it’s only 1, correct, but they could build that 1 right now without 
coming here  
 
Commissioner Granier: I understand.  
 
Mr. Albert: And I don’t think they’d go through all of this for one. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Any other questions or comments? Call for the vote. 
 
YEAS:  Gordon, Petit, Granier, Richard, Booth, Galliano 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Frangella 
 
Commissioner Booth: That passes, Mr. Frangella is not here tonight. That goes to the 
Council, the final approval will be done by the Parish Council.  

 



St. Charles Parish 
Department of Planning & Zoning 
 

LAND USE REPORT 
CASE NUMBER: PZS-2018-53 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

 Name/Address of Applicant   Application Date: 11/01/18 
Bayou Fleet Partnership, LLC 
P.O. Box 446 
Hahnville, LA 70057 
(985)-783-6403; rbd@bayoufleet.com 

 

 Location of Site 
The southern portion of Pecan Bayou Subdivision; Oak Street, near Butternut Street, 
Hahnville. 
 

 Requested Action 
Resubdivision of Lots 5, 6, 7, Block 6, and Lots 1 thru 6, Block 8, and unimproved 
Walnut Street, Pecan Bayou Subdivision, into Parcel B. 
 

SITE INFORMATION 

 Size of Parcel 
Proposed Parcel B:  80,438 square feet, 380 feet wide on Oak Street 

 

 Current Zoning and Land Use 
R-1A, Single Family Residential – Detached Conventional Homes; site is cleared but 
undeveloped. 

 

 Surrounding Zoning and Land Use 
R-1A, Single Family Residential zoning is adjacent on all sides.  
 
Single family houses are developed adjacent to the Hickory Street side, across 
Butternut Street, and adjacent to the rear; the property located across Oak Street is 
cleared but undeveloped. 
   

 Plan 2030 Recommendation 
Low Density Residential: This category includes the Parish’s predominantly single 
family detached subdivisions, including those developed consistent with the R-1A 
(6,000 sq. ft. minimum lot size) and R-1B (10,000 sq. ft. minimum lot size) zoning 
districts.  It also allows accessory units and individual mobile homes on small platted 
lots zoned R-1AM.  Neighborhood-serving uses such as neighborhood parks, 
churches and servitudes may also be included in this land use category. 
 

 Traffic Access  
Frontage and access for the proposed lot is provided on both Oak and Butternut 
Streets.  
 

 Utilities 
The neighborhood is developed, including three residences on the subject site, and 
served by existing utilities. 

 

APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 
Appendix C. Section II. Subdivision Procedure  C. Minor Resubdivisions.   
 
Chapter 2—Administrative dedicating or revoking a street. 
 
 
1. In instances where a net increase of five (5) or fewer lots is proposed by subdivision or resubdivision 
and no new or additional public improvements are required, no formal preliminary plat shall be required. 
The plan of resubdivision shall comply with requirements outlined in section II.C.3 of this section, and with 
all relevant land use regulations, including the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision 
Regulations. The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve or deny the application. The basis for 
denial shall be stated at the meeting and on the record of the Planning and Zoning Commission. 



 
3. Subdivisions and resubdivisions which meet the guidelines contained in Section II.C. of these 

regulations shall be presented to the Department of Planning and Zoning in the form of a plan which 
conforms to the laws of the State of Louisiana governing surveying, platting, and subdivision of land. 
The proposed subdivision shall contain the following information: 
a. Location of the property. 
b. Name(s) and address(es) of the owners. 
c. Name and address of the Land Surveyor preparing the plan as well as the date the survey was 

prepared. The survey shall be dated within one (1) year of the subdivision application date.  
d. Existing property lines and lot numbers, including names and width of adjoining streets. 
e. Proposed property lines and revised numbers of proposed lots. 
f.   Location and dimensions of existing buildings. 
g. Layout and dimensions of all existing, proposed, and required servitudes and rights-of-way, 

including but not limited to servitudes for sidewalks, utilities, access, drainage ditches, and 
canals.  

h. Existing lakes and ponds. 
i.   North arrow and scale. 
j. The following note shall be added to all resubdivision maps: All necessary sewer, water and/or 

other utility extensions, relocations or modifications shall be made solely at the lot owner's 
expense. 

k. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan. For Minor Subdivisions that involve more than one (1) acre, 
the MS4 Administrator may require the submittal of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
and/or Post Construction Stormwater Permit, including all required documentation, in accordance 
with Chapter 25—Stormwater Management and Erosion and Sedimentation Control. 

 
III. - Geometric standards. 
C. Lots:  
1. Size. The width, depth, area, and minimum building setback line shall conform to the St. Charles 

Parish Zoning Ordinance for the type of development.  
 a. Corner Lot. Corner lots shall have extra width to permit setback lines on the side of the lots  

adjacent to a side street. The extra width shall be sufficient to allow the lot to meet the minimum 
zoning requirements of the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance excluding the side street setback 
distance.  

 b. Width. The lot width at the minimum building setback line shall not be less than that specified by 
the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance.  

2. Lot Lines. All lot side lines shall be at right angles to straight street lines or radial to curved street 
lines unless a variation is approved in writing by the Commission.  

3. Large Lots. When a parcel of land is subdivided into large lots, the Commission may require the 
shape and dimensions of the lots arranged so that resubdivision of any lots will meet the 
requirements of these Regulations and the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance.  

 
[I.] R-1A. Single family residential detached conventional homes—Medium density.  
2. Spatial Requirements: 

a. Minimum lot size: Six thousand (6,000) square feet per family; minimum width—sixty (60) feet  
b. Minimum yard sizes: 

(1) Front—Twenty (20) feet 
(2) Side—Five (5) feet 
(3) Rear—Twenty (20) feet 
(4) For lots with less than one hundred (100) feet depth, front setback and rear setback shall be 

twenty (20) percent of lot depth respectively with a minimum of ten (10) feet to the front lot 
line and five (5) feet to the rear lot line.  

(5) Whenever property abuts a major drainage canal as defined by the Subdivision regulations 
the required setback for all structures shall be ten (10) feet measured from the inner 
boundary of such servitude or right-of-way, not withstanding any other more restrictive 
setbacks, this provision shall not apply to any lot of record created and existing prior to the 
effective date of Ordinance No. 99-12-8, December 15, 1999.   

c. Accessory buildings: 
(1) An accessory building may occupy no more than twenty-five (25) percent of the required rear 

yard.  
(2) The accessory building shall not exceed two-story construction. 
(3) Minimum setback of accessory buildings including overhangs, shall be three (3) feet.   
(4) Nonresidential accessory buildings shall not be permitted. 

d. Permitted encroachments: 
(1) Overhangs projecting not more than twenty-four (24) inches, excluding gutter. For accessory 

buildings, overhangs shall not be closer than three (3) feet to any property line.  
(2) Stairs and landings not more than three (3) feet in height, projecting no more than four (4) 

feet into required front or rear yard.  

Administrative Code, Sec. 2-4. - Procedure to dedicate, or revoke dedication of street, 
canal, etc. 
(a)  A formal act of dedication shall be filed by any person requesting the parish council to 
 accept for maintenance streets and drainage using the following format: 
(1)  The act shall state the name of the person dedicating the street or drainage. 
(2)  The act shall contain a description of the property in which the street or drainage is located. 
(3)  The act shall state the name of the street, the width and length to be accepted. 
(4)  All drainage ditches shall be properly marked with widths shown. The dedication shall spell 
out the width and length of each ditch. 

https://library.municode.com/la/st._charles_parish/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIIPACO_CH25STMAERSECO


(5)  Two (2) updated maps shall be submitted to accompany each act of dedication. These 
maps shall give a description of the area including section, tract and range lines; name of 
subdivision, if applicable; date; civil engineer or surveyor; title; north point of compass and scale 
of map. 
(b)  Prior to a request for the parish to assume for maintenance any street or drainage, it shall 
 be necessary for the parish engineers to certify that the street or drainage meets parish 
 specifications. 
(c)  Acts of revocation on streets, drainage ditches or canals shall contain the same information 
 as requested for acts of dedication and shall be accompanied by the submission of a 
 subdivision plan which shall be executed through the local subdivision process, formally 
 incorporating revoked properties into adjacent parcels. 
 

ANALYSIS 

The property owner proposes a resubdivision to create one parcel, Parcel B, out of nine 
(9) lots and a portion of unimproved Walnut Street.  Parcel B exceeds the minimum 
area and width for R-1A zoned lots and meets geometric standards for lots. 
 
The property was laid out as Pecan Bayou in the late 60s.  The roads and portions of 
Pecan Bayou Subdivision closer to the river were developed with houses.  The streets 
in this area, Walnut Street and a portion of Butternut Street, were not built, so the lots 
were never developed. 
 
In 2004, Bayou Fleet requested a different layout of five (5) larger lots under proposed 
Parcel B fronting Oak Street and the developed portion of Butternut Street (as well as 
five larger lots Parcel A all fronting Oak Street proposed in PZS 2018-54).  The 
Preliminary Plat of the new lot layout was approved.  While this conceptual layout of 
new lots, including the revocation of the streets, was approved, the subdivision was 
proposed with open-swale drainage which was denied (PZS-2004-58). 
 
The applicant appealed and received a judgement from the 29th Judicial District Court, 
filed on August 12, 2005, which granted approval of the subdivision, as laid out, with the 
revocation of streets and the open swale drainage.  A Preliminary Plat expires after six 
(6) months if it does not request construction approval, final plat approval, or has no 
other activity.  The Department has found no record of either request in that time frame.  
As a result, the formal revocation of the streets did not occur. 
 
In order to create Parcels A and B as presented, with the portions of the undeveloped 
but dedicated street rights-of-way within them, the revocation process has to be 
completed through this process of resubdivision with an ordinance revoking the streets. 
 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION 

Approval. 
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Public Hearing Requirements SatisfiedParish Council10/15/2018 1

Postponed IndefinitelyParish Council10/15/2018 1 Pass

Postponed IndefinitelyParish Council10/15/2018 1

Correspondence SentCouncil Member(s)10/15/2018 1

Publish/Scheduled for Public HearingParish Council10/1/2018 1

IntroducedCouncil Member(s)10/1/2018 1

Correspondence SentCouncil Secretary8/30/2018 1
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St. Charles Parish                         Planning Board of Commissioners                          December 6, 2018 

RECOMMENDATIONS AT A GLANCE 
 
PZO-2018-06 requested by Paul J. Hogan, PE, Councilman-At-Large, Div. B for an 
ordinance to amend the St. Charles Parish Subdivision Regulations to eliminate the 
requirement for final plats on film reproducible material. 
 

Planning Department Recommendation: 
 

Approval 
 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
 
Approval 
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Commissioner Booth: Next item on the agenda PZO 2018-06 requested by Paul J. 
Hogan, PE, Councilman-At-Large, Div. B for an ordinance to amend the St. Charles 
Parish Subdivision Regulations to eliminate the requirement for final plats on film 
reproducible material. Ms. Stein would you tell us where we’re going with this one, 
we’ve been working with this for a while. 
 
Ms. Stein: Thank you Mr. Chair. I apologize, this is coming back to you at the request of 
the Council Secretary, the last ordinance that I proposed to you had some additional 
language that was unnecessary and actually a little bit confusing as it had already been 
done. That update has finally been put into our Code of Ordinances, it was an 
administrative problem. We’d like your support on this ordinance which will again save 
time and money for developers and surveyors and will alleviate storage problems for the 
department, we do not have a blueline machine, we don’t need this format, nothing 
submitted to us on this type of paper anymore. So we ask for your support. Thank you. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Ma’am. Public hearing for PZO-2010-06, Mr. Hogan, 
Councilman at Large Div. B so we can clean up the language we’ve already seen in 
previous meetings and save time and money. Anyone here to speak in favor or against 
this particular ordinance revision? Seeing none, the public hearing is closed. Any 
comments or questions from the Commission? Cast your vote please. 
 
YEAS:  Gordon, Petit, Granier, Richard, Booth Galliano 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Frangella 
 
Commissioner Booth: That’s unanimous, Mr. Frangella is not here.  
 



 
 

St. Charles Parish 
Department of Planning & Zoning 

Land Use Report 
Case Number: PZO 2018-06 
Introduced by Paul J. Hogan, PE, Councilman-At-Large, Div. B 
 
Background 
Staff revised the ordinance proposed last month in PZO 2018-06 at the Council 
Secretary's request to avoid confusion.  The current version will eliminate the 
requirement for final plats to be on film-reproducible material. 
 
Because the Planning and Zoning Department does not have a blue line machine, 
documents on film-reproducible material are an unnecessary storage burden for the 
department and an unnecessary cost for developers.  Several different ordinance 
amendments in the last five years have eliminated requirements for documents on this 
type of material. 
 
Last month's ordinance also contained language to eliminate the requirement for final 
as-built drawings of sanitary sewer, storm drainage, street lighting, and water systems 
on film-reproducible media.  Ordinance 17-7-18, adopted July 31, 2017, had already 
eliminated these requirements.  The company that maintains the Parish Code of 
Ordinances, Municode, completed that edit last month, and staff have revised the 
proposed ordinance accordingly. 
 
Potential outcomes  
The ordinance would eliminate the requirement for final plats on "polyester base film or 
equal drawing material" which will save developers time and money. 
 
Recommendation 
APPROVAL 
 























St. Charles Parish
Courthouse

15045 Highway 18
P.O. Box 302

Hahnville, LA 70057
985-783-5000

www.stcharlesparish-la.gov

St. Charles Parish

Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0331 Name: Authorize the Parish President to buy the property
known as 409 Down the Bayou Road, Des
Allemands from Sherwood A. Berard

Status:Type: Ordinance Tabled

File created: In control:11/26/2018 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:12/10/2018

Enactment date: Yes

Title: An ordinance to approve and authorize the Parish President to buy the property known as 409 Down
the Bayou Road, Des Allemands from Sherwood A. Berard, which property is more particularly
described in the attached “Agreement to Purchase and Sell” document.

Sponsors: Lawrence 'Larry' Cochran, Department of Public Works

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2018-0331 Agreement to purchase and sell

2018-0331 drawing.pdf

Action ByDate Action ResultVer.

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council11/26/2018 1

IntroducedParish President11/26/2018 1
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St. Charles Parish
Courthouse

15045 Highway 18
P.O. Box 302

Hahnville, LA 70057
985-783-5000

www.stcharlesparish-la.gov

St. Charles Parish

Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0333 Name: Name a private driveway located on Lot GV-2X,
Gassen Villa Subdivision, as requested by Wells
One Investments, LLC

Status:Type: Ordinance Tabled

File created: In control:11/26/2018 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:12/10/2018

Enactment date: Yes

Title: An ordinance to name a private driveway located on Lot GV-2X, Gassen Villa Subdivision, as
requested by Wells One Investments, LLC.

Sponsors: Julia Fisher-Perrier

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2018-0333 Extra Info

Action ByDate Action ResultVer.

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council12/10/2018 1

Parish Council11/26/2018 1

IntroducedCouncil Member(s)11/26/2018 1
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St. Charles Parish
Courthouse
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Hahnville, LA 70057
985-783-5000

www.stcharlesparish-la.gov

St. Charles Parish

Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12019-0001 Name: Mr. Walter Pilie’:  Lack of Drainage

Status:Type: Public Speaker Public Speaker

File created: In control:1/7/2019 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:1/7/2019

Enactment date: Yes

Title: Mr. Walter Pilie’:  Lack of Drainage

Sponsors:

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2019-0001 petition - Pilie'.pdf

Action ByDate Action ResultVer.
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St. Charles Parish
Courthouse

15045 Highway 18
P.O. Box 302

Hahnville, LA 70057
985-783-5000

www.stcharlesparish-la.gov

St. Charles Parish

Legislation Details

File #:  Version: 12018-0348 Name: Support authorization - Resubdivision of Portion of
Lot A of Fashion Plantation with a waiver from the
requirement for frontage on a developed street

Status:Type: Resolution In Council - Resolutions

File created: In control:1/7/2019 Parish Council

On agenda: Final action:1/7/2019

Enactment date: Yes

Title: A resolution providing mandatory supporting authorization to endorse the Resubdivision of a Portion
of Lot A of Fashion Plantation as requested by Jerome Lombardo and Brian Lombardo, with a waiver
from the requirement for frontage on a developed street.

Sponsors: Lawrence 'Larry' Cochran, Department of Planning & Zoning

Indexes:

Code sections:

Attachments: 2018-0348 Lombardo Recommendation at a Glance (2)

2018-0348 12.06.18_Minutes_Lombardo

2018-0348 Lombardo LUR_PZS 2018-56

2018-0348 Lombardo Survey

2018-0348 Lombardo AERIAL PZS-2018-56

2018-0348 Lombardo ZONING PZS-2018-56

2018-0348 Lombardo FLUM PZS-2018-56

Action ByDate Action ResultVer.

IntroducedParish President1/7/2019 1

Rcmnd'd  Approval w/Stip.Planning Commission12/6/2018 1

Rcmnd'd  Approval w/Stip.Department of Planning & Zoning12/6/2018 1

Received/Assigned PHDepartment of Planning & Zoning11/7/2018 1
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St. Charles Parish                         Planning Board of Commissioners                          December 6, 2018 

RECOMMENDATIONS AT A GLANCE 
 
PZS-2018-56 requested by Jerome Lombardo for resubdivision of a large tract, portion 
of Lot A of a subdivision of Lots 16, 17 and 18 of Fashion Plantation into three lots, L-1, 
L-2 & L-3, near 14787 River Road, Hahnville. Zoning District OL. Council District 1.  
 

Planning Department Recommendation: 
 

Approval with waiver from the required frontage on a developed street 
 

Planning Commission Recommendation: 
 
Approval with waiver from the required frontage on a developed street 
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Commissioner Booth: Next item on the agenda is PZS-2018-56 requested by Jerome 
Lombardo for resubdivision of a large tract, portion of Lot A of a subdivision of Lots 16, 
17 and 18 of Fashion Plantation into three lots, L-1, L-2 & L-3, near 14787 River Road, 
Hahnville. Zoning District OL. Council District 1. Mr. Welker. 
 
Mr. Welker: The applicant proposes a minor subdivision creating 3 new lots outside of 
the existing large tract. Proposed Lots L-1, L-2 and L-3 meet the minimum 20,000 sq. ft. 
area requirement for the OL zoning district considering there is a 25 ft. access servitude 
for Lots L-2 and L-3, with this servitude they would meet the 50 ft. frontage on that 
driveway. Lots L-2 and L-3 do not have frontage on a developed street. The survey 
shows the previously mentioned 25 ft. wide access and utility servitude going through 
Lot L-1 and L-2 providing access to River Road. The Department of Public Works 
indicated the servitude is satisfactory. The OL zoning district allows for development on 
lots without frontage when a permanent right of passage is provided for, recorded into 
the deed of the property and filed with the Clerk of Court. If this resubdivision is 
approved the plat will be recorded in the Clerk of Court and referenced in the deeds to 
Lots L-2 and L-3. The applicants have been advised the servitude should also be 
described in the deed for each of the new lots created. This type of development exists 
on several river front properties in Hahnville, however the development trend is more 
towards major subdivisions. The 25 ft. access servitude which is proposed to be called 
Lombardo Lane allows the family to develop to meet their needs right now and also 
allows the property to be developed in the future more in a traditional major subdivision 
capacity. The department recommends approval.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Public hearing for PZS-2018-56, Jerome 
Lombardo resubdividing a large portion of land portion of Lot A of a subdivision of Lots 
16, 17 and 18 of Fashion Plantation into three lots, L-1, L-2 & L-3, near 14787 River 
Road, Hahnville, anyone here to speak for or against? State your name and address for 
the record please. 
 
My name is Jerome Lombardo, III, I live at 14787 River Road. What we’re trying to do, 
I’m giving my son a lot right behind mine and all of the other parishes that I know of with 
family subdivisions have a 12 ft. road going there, so they’re saying they want a 25 ft. 
road, but I don’t want to put a 25 ft. road, all I want is a 12, my existing road and the end 
of this property and I don’t see nothing wrong with that.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Ok. Thank you Sir. Anyone else to speak for or against this 
issue? State your name and address for the record please. 
 
Brian Lombardo, currently living at 2016 Green Acres in Metairie, but a lifelong resident 
until a few months ago, St. Charles Parish in Luling. I’m for it but I just want to clarify we 
really just need a driveway to get to where we’re at and the 25 ft. servitude is basically 
going to be just, it doesn’t actually have to be a road or street to be able to drive on, it’s 
just an access. 
 
Mr. Albert: Correct, it’s a reserved area for access. 
 
B. Lombardo: Yes. 
 
Mr. Albert: You want to make a 12 ft. driveway. 
 
B. Lombardo: That’s fine, so we would have a 12 ft. driveway coming off River Road 
going back on that access servitude all the way back to the end of our new proposed 
subdivision. I just wanted to make sure that 12 ft. wide road to go back was ok. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Anyone else here to speak for or against? State 
your name and address for the record please Sir. 
 
My name is William Madere, I live at 14785 River Road in Hahnville, which is Lot A-1, 
portion of Lot A, Lot A being a portion of Lot 18. I’ve owned this house since 2002 and I 
have some up to date drawings, an original drawing when they subdivided the property 
from Lot A and this is the updated drawing of my house, my back drive, my driveway, 
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my carport and my shed. My concerns are I’m not approved or disapproved at this time 
but my concerns on where will the road be routed, placed, you know, again like he said 
dimension wise where will be the access points for the road and what will be the 
elevations of the road? Where will the utility service be routed, concerning gas, water, 
sewerage, electrical, fire water, communications and drainage? What will be the 
elevation of their lots? Are there any other than 3 lots become part of this subdivision in 
the future on property 14787 Lot A before being rezoned from Open Land to Residential 
and if there’s much traffic I would like to consider him putting a fence up, that’s 
concerning headlights at night, noise and traffic. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Yes Sir. 
 
Mr. Welker: I guess to address those concerns, any type of future roadway or utilities or 
anything like that would be reserved for the 25 ft. access way that’s being proposed on 
the plat which is positioned on the far upriver edge of the property, which is the opposite 
side from the previous gentlemen’s lot.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Anyone else here to speak for or against this issue?  
 
J. Lombardo: I have an existing road 12 ft. wide off of LA 18 and all we’re going to do is 
put new rocks all the way to the edge of the property all the way. My daughter in law 
and son are the only headlights coming down that road, so I don’t know what he’s 
worried about there.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Alright Sir. Anyone else to speak? 
 
Hello, Denise Lombardo, 2016 Green Acres Road, Metairie, the only thing I wanted to 
say was that it is an undeveloped property, we’re going to be living next to my father in 
law and we wanted to build a small street / road, a 12 ft. road. It makes it easier on us 
financially and also just because it’s just a small little subdivision and I believe this 
gentleman lives right in front of us and we do plan on building the road on the farthest 
end from him along our property line. So I know he’s worried about headlights and stuff 
and he lives right off of River Road and they do have headlights coming on that street 
but we’re a private road and we’ll be farthest to the right. If we have to build a 25 ft. road 
that almost makes it impossible for us to live next to my father in law who we would like 
to take care of as he ages and the lot behind we would have to cut and take care of 
because he’s not able to do so. They said it was ok to do the 12 ft. road and it is a 
family subdivision and it is up to guidelines and code according to that, they’re thinking 
about into the future and developing that into this huge thing that we’re not even 
thinking about doing anything like that right now and if we were to sell the property or 
my father in law were to sell the property I’m sure it would be sold with the joint property 
and they might not even have a street the way that we want the street, the developer in 
the future. So that’s something that we don’t see, we’re trying to develop it the way we 
see it now and in the foreseeable future, that’s all something, maybe the developer 
wouldn’t want to develop because it is a pretty narrow lot, it’s not a very big lot and 
actually a developer looked at it and said that if he were to buy the property, he said he 
would want to buy it with a bigger lot, because we were thinking what could we do to try 
to move into this neighborhood, but then we decided to just do the smaller 
neighborhood and move in there. I’m sorry if I’m confusing you, sorry, but that’s it.  
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Ma’am. Yes Sir, state your name and address. 
 
Danny Lanaux, 132 Cottage Drive, Luling. I want to understand how you go from a 25 ft. 
road to a 12 ft. road and if it’s a 12 ft. road, is it a one way road, and if you’re going to 
sell multiple lots down the road, what if someone is coming out on a one-way road and 
somebody’s coming off of River Road, then what gives? I can see one person doing this 
but further down the road if you’re going to sell lots, you’ll have to go for a definitely 
wider road than 12 ft. to make a two-way street.  
 
Commissioner Booth: We have an answer for you right here. 
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Mr. Albert: There’s no road, no road being built. If you are looking at the plans there is a 
25 ft. portion of ground from River Road back to the back lot that is reserved. They will 
not be able to build anything on that piece of ground other than a driveway. 
 
Mr. Lanaux: That 25 that’s reserved, it can’t be touched.  
 
Mr. Albert: Correct. They might build a 12 ft. driveway, they might build a 20 ft. 
driveway, but it’s a driveway until someone comes in and makes it a much bigger 
project.  
 
Mr. Lanaux: With the 12 ft. basically it’s a one way road at that point? The 12 ft. 
 
Mr. Albert: there is no road.  
 
Mr. Lanaux: But they want one though. 
 
Mr. Albert: There is no road, they’re not getting a road. 
 
Mr. Lanaux: They’re getting a driveway  
 
Mr. Albert: Correct. 
 
Commissioner Booth: There is no thru traffic. 
 
B. Lombardo: It’s going to be a driveway I’m paying for, it’s just going to be a dirt slat, 
kind of rock driveway going back. We’re not thinking of any development, we’re not 
going to build a whole neighborhood back there, it’s going to be one house behind my 
dad’s house and the only people that are going to be going in and out are me, my wife 
and my dad, that’s it. 
 
Commissioner Booth: Thank you Sir. Yes Sir. State your name again. 
 
William Madere, 14785 River Road in Hahnville. I heard the lady speak about later in 
the future they have plans to subdivide into a larger subdivision and I just want to put a 
reminder that this is surveyed as Open Land right now and that means they can only  
have 5 dwellings and even on my small portion of property, by Planning and Zoning, I 
can also have because mine is zoned Open Land, I can also have 5 dwellings. So 
unless they subdivide that, I mean have it zoned as residential they cannot do any more 
than 5 dwellings. The building where Jerry Lombardo lives in right now is considered a 
dwelling. 
Commissioner Booth: Yes Sir. Thank you very much. Anyone else? 
 
Commissioner Granier: Are there any culverts running through the private property? 
 
Commissioner Booth: None that we know of. I know you have this hang up tonight. 
Anyone else to speak for or against? The public hearing is closed. We’ll call for the vote. 
 
YEAS:  Gordon, Petit, Granier, Richard, Booth Galliano 
NAYS: None 
ABSENT: Frangella 
 
Commissioner Booth: That passes unanimously. Mr. Frangella is not here tonight.  

 



St. Charles Parish 
Department of Planning & Zoning 
 

LAND USE REPORT 
CASE NUMBER: PZS-2018-56 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

 Name/Address of Applicant   Application Date: 11/07/18 
Jerome Lombardo  Brian Lombardo 
P.O. Box 811   P.O. Box 65 
Luling, LA 70070 Luling, LA 70070 
 (985)-233-1551  (504)-913-0014; brian.lombardo@bioscrip.com 
 

 Location of Site 
Portion of Lot A, Fashion Plantation Subdivision; 14787 River Road, Hahnville 
 

 Requested Action 
Resubdivision of a Portion of Lot A, Fashion Plantation Subdivision, into three (3) 
lots, L-1, L-2, L-3.   
 

SITE INFORMATION 

 Size of Parcel 
Portion of Lot A currently consists of 394,869 square feet and has 80 feet of frontage  
Proposed Lot L-1:  31,512.39 square feet, 80 feet wide on River Road 
Proposed Lot L-2:  20,000 square feet, 125 wide, no frontage 
Proposed Lot L-3:  343,357 square feet, 2,606 feet wide, no frontage 

 

 Current Zoning and Land Use 
O-L, Open Land; the front of the property which will consist of proposed Lot L-1 is 
developed with a single family house.  The remainder of the lot is cleared and in 
agricultural use. 

 

 Surrounding Zoning and Land Use 
R-1A zoning is across river Road; O-L zoning abuts on each side and to the rear. 
 
Site-built single family houses are developed adjacent to the front, across River 
Road, and along a portion of the downriver side.  The land adjacent to the upriver 
side is cleared and used for agricultural purposes.     
   

 Plan 2030 Recommendation 
Low Density Residential: This category includes the Parish’s predominantly single 
family detached subdivisions, including those developed consistent with the R-1A 
(6,000 sq. ft. minimum lot size) and R-1B (10,000 sq. ft. minimum lot size) zoning 
districts.  It also allows accessory units and individual mobile homes on small platted 
lots zoned R-1AM.  Neighborhood-serving uses such as neighborhood parks, 
churches and servitudes may also be included in this land use category. 
 
Residential-Mixed Use: This land use designation applies in areas appropriate for 
large scale, creatively planned developments where the predominant use is 
residential, but where a variety of housing types at varying densities are 
encouraged, as well as compatible, local serving commercial and service uses.  
Development under this land use category is anticipated to take the form of Planned 
Developments (PD’s) as well as Traditional Neighborhood Developments (TND’s). 
 

 Traffic Access  
The existing lot has frontage and access to the front along River Road.  Proposed lot 
L-1 will have the only street access, utilizing the existing frontage along River Road. 
 
Lots L-2 and L-3 will not have street frontage, but will have access to river road from 
a 25-foot access and utility servitude running through Lot L-1, through Lot L-2, and 
to L-3.  Lots without frontage are permitted in the O-L zoning district “provided that a 

mailto:brian.lombardo@bioscrip.com


permanent rite of passage to access the structure exist or is provided for, is 
recorded into the deed of the property, and is filed with the Clerk of Court”.  
 

 Utilities 
Representatives for Parish water, sewer, and drainage indicate that utilities in the 
area can accommodate dwelling units on proposed Lots L-2 and L-3; L-1 is already 
developed with a dwelling.  In order to permit a house on the lots, the developer will 
have to "tie-in" to Parish water and sewer along River Road and lay private service 
lines from that tie-in to the house site.  This means that the water line from the water 
meter to the house will be 292 feet long or longer.  Likewise, the sewer line will be at 
least 292 feet long; representatives of sewer expect that a pump will be necessary to 
get sewerage from the house to the community sewer line.  Lot L-2 will have to drain 
stormwater to River Road as well.  All of these service lines plus any electrical, 
natural gas, and telecommunications lines should be located in the 25' access and 
utility servitude through proposed Lot L-1.  

 

APPLICABLE REGULATIONS 
Appendix C. Section II. Subdivision Procedure  C. Minor Resubdivisions.   
1. In instances where a net increase of five (5) or fewer lots is proposed by subdivision or resubdivision 
and no new or additional public improvements are required, no formal preliminary plat shall be required. 
The plan of resubdivision shall comply with requirements outlined in section II.C.3 of this section, and with 
all relevant land use regulations, including the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision 
Regulations. The Planning and Zoning Commission may approve or deny the application. The basis for 
denial shall be stated at the meeting and on the record of the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
 
3. Subdivisions and resubdivisions which meet the guidelines contained in Section II.C. of these 

regulations shall be presented to the Department of Planning and Zoning in the form of a plan which 
conforms to the laws of the State of Louisiana governing surveying, platting, and subdivision of land. 
The proposed subdivision shall contain the following information: 
a. Location of the property. 
b. Name(s) and address(es) of the owners. 
c. Name and address of the Land Surveyor preparing the plan as well as the date the survey was 

prepared. The survey shall be dated within one (1) year of the subdivision application date. 
d. Existing property lines and lot numbers, including names and width of adjoining streets. 
e. Proposed property lines and revised numbers of proposed lots. 
f.   Location and dimensions of existing buildings. 
g. Layout and dimensions of all existing, proposed, and required servitudes and rights -of-way, 

including but not limited to servitudes for sidewalks, utilities, access, drainage ditches, and 
canals.  

h. Existing lakes and ponds. 
i.   North arrow and scale. 
j. The following note shall be added to all resubdivision maps: All necessary sewer, water and/or 

other utility extensions, relocations or modifications shall be made solely at the lot owner's 
expense. 

k. Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan. For Minor Subdivisions that involve more than one (1) acre, 
the MS4 Administrator may require the submittal of a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan 
and/or Post Construction Stormwater Permit, including all required documentation, in accordance 
with Chapter 25—Stormwater Management and Erosion and Sedimentation Control.  

 
III. - Geometric standards. 
C. Lots:  
1. Size. The width, depth, area, and minimum building setback line shall conform to the St. Charles 

Parish Zoning Ordinance for the type of development.  
 a. Corner Lot. Corner lots shall have extra width to permit setback lines on the side of the lots  

adjacent to a side street. The extra width shall be sufficient to allow the lot to meet the minimum 
zoning requirements of the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance excluding the side street setback 
distance.  

 b. Width. The lot width at the minimum building setback line shall not be less than that specified by 
the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance.  

2. Lot Lines. All lot side lines shall be at right angles to straight street lines or radial to curved street 
lines unless a variation is approved in writing by the Commission.  

3. Large Lots. When a parcel of land is subdivided into large lots, the Commission may require the 
shape and dimensions of the lots arranged so that resubdivision of any lots will meet the 
requirements of these Regulations and the St. Charles Parish Zoning Ordinance. 

 
[I.] O-L. Open Land District:  
1. Use Regulations: 
 a. A building or land shall be used only for the following purposes: 

(1) Farming. 
(2) Animal husbandry. 
(3) Farm family dwellings. 
(4) Tenant dwellings. 
(5) Site-built, single-family detached dwellings. 

https://library.municode.com/la/st._charles_parish/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIIPACO_CH25STMAERSECO


(6) Additional dwellings for family and relatives on unsubdivided property on a non-rental basis, 
and which meet the criteria outlined in Special Provisions [subsection 3].  

(7) Manufactured housing. 
(8) Mobile homes. 
(9) Accessory buildings. 
(10) Family subdivisions, provided that they conform to the St. Charles Parish Subdivision 

Regulations [appendix C].  
(11) Farmer's market, provided that the criteria outlined in Special Provisions [subsection 3] is 

met.  
(12) Any permitted uses under subsection 1.a. items (1) through (9) on a lot or property 

without frontage provided that a permanent rite of passage to access the structure 
exists or is provided for, is recorded into the deed of the property, and is filed with 
the Clerk of Court.   

b. Special exception uses and structures include the following: 
(1) Religious institutions. 
(2) Golf courses and golf practice ranges. 
(3) Public parks and recreational areas. 

c. Special permit uses and structures include the following: 
(1) Child care centers. 
(2) Public and private academic institutions (trade, business and industrial schools shall be 

located in the appropriate commercial or industrial zoning district).  
(3) Cemeteries and mausoleums, provided that they meet the criteria outlined in Special 

Provisions [subsection 3].  
(4) Extraction of oil and gas, minerals and other natural resources provided that criteria set forth 

by the St. Charles Parish Coastal Zone Management Section of the Planning and Zoning 
Department are met.  

(5) Public stables and kennels. 
(6) Cellular installations and PCS (personal communication service) installations.   
(7) Green markets upon review and approval by the Planning Commission and supporting 

resolution of the Council. Such sites must possess frontage on a hard-surfaced public 
collector or arterial street.   

(8) Reserved.   
(9) Fire stations with or without firefighter training facilities.   
(10) Nonresidential accessory buildings 
(11) Accessory Dwelling Units upon approval by the Planning Commission and supporting 

resolution of the Council.   
2. Spatial Requirements: 

a. Minimum lot size shall be twenty thousand (20,000) square feet; minimum width fifty (50) feet.   
b. Minimum yard sizes: 

(1) Front—thirty-five (35) feet. 
(2) Side—ten (10) feet. 
(3) Rear—twenty (20) feet. 
(4) Whenever property abuts a major drainage canal as defined by the Subdivision regulations 

the required setback for all structures shall be ten (10) feet measured from the inner 
boundary of such servitude or right-of-way, not withstanding any other more restrictive 
setbacks, this provision shall not apply to any lot of record created and existing prior to the 
effective date of Ordinance No. 99-12-8, December 15, 1999.   

c. Accessory buildings: Minimum rear and side setbacks shall be ten (10) feet. 
d. Permitted encroachments: 

(1) Overhangs projecting not more than twenty-four (24) inches excluding gutter. 
(2) Stairs and landings not more than three (3) feet in height, projecting no more than four (4) 

feet into the required front or rear yard.  
3. Special Provisions: 

a. Additional dwellings on unsubdivided property: 
(1) Additional dwellings on unsubdivided property referred to in 1, a(11) above, will be permitted 

at the rate of one (1) dwelling unit for each ten thousand (10,000) square feet of lot area.  
(2) The applicant for any additional dwellings on unsubdivided property shall submit a copy of all 

subdivision restrictions (covenants) which govern the property in order to protect the integrity 
of the neighborhood.  

(3) Under no circumstances will the total number of dwellings per unsubdivided lot permitted 
under these provisions exceed four (4).  

(4) Permits issued under this provision will be issued for a two-year period. At the expiration of 
this time, an investigation will be conducted by the Planning and Zoning Department to 
determine if this Code is complied with. Non-compliance will result in the revocation of the 
permit.  

b. All manufactured housing and mobile homes shall be secured according to the Federal 
Emergency Management Agency's Sept. 1985 publication Manufactured Housing Installation in 
Flood Hazard Areas.  

c. All dwelling units shall be connected to utility systems which provide for health and safety under 
all conditions of normal use. Home utility services shall only be connected to the supply source by 
means of approved materials, and shall be inspected by the appropriate agency.  

d. Farmer's market 
(1) All products must be sold on the premises on which they were grown or produced, from either 

a truck, stand, display table, or other means of display which has been inspected and 
approved by the Parish Health Unit.   

(2) No structure, vehicles or signs may be located closer to any property line than the general 
setback requirements of the O-L District with the exception of one (1) on-premises sign which 
contains the name of the market. This sign shall be located approximate to the entrance drive 



directing attention to the market. The sign shall conform with acceptable commercial 
standards regarding quality and aesthetics. No temporary signs will be allowed. If the sign is 
to be illuminated, lighting shall be arranged as not to interfere with traffic safety or cause a 
nuisance to abutting properties.  

e. Cemeteries and mausoleums: 
(1) All cemetery or mausoleum sites must have a minimum street frontage of one hundred (100) 

feet.   
(2) All cemetery or mausoleum sites must have a fence or screen planting six (6) feet high along 

all property lines adjoining all districts.   
4. Prohibited Use: Medical waste storage, treatment or disposal facilities.   

 

ANALYSIS 

The applicant proposes a minor resubdivision creating three (3) new lots out of an 
existing parcel.   
 
Proposed lots L-1, L-2, and L-3 meet the minimum 20,000-square foot area requirement 
for the O-L zoning district; considering the proposed 25-foot wide access servitude, they 
can be considered to meet the minimum width of 50 feet on that driveway.  
 
Lots L-2 and L-3 do not have frontage on a developed street.  The survey shows a 25-
foot wide access and utility servitude through Lot L-1 and Lot L-2 providing access to 
River Road. The Department of Public Works indicated the servitude is satisfactory.  
Development The O-L zoning district allows for development on lots without frontage 
when a permanent rite of passage is provided for, recorded into the deed of the 
property, and filed with the Clerk of Court.  If this resubdivision is approved, the plat will 
be recorded in the Clerk of Court and referenced in the deeds to Lots L-2 and L-3.  The 
applicants have been advised that the servitude should also be described in the deed 
for each of the lots created. 
 
This type of development exists on several river-front properties in Hahnville; however, 
the development trend is to major subdivisions.  The 25-foot wide access servitude, 
proposed "Lombardo Lane," allows the family to develop to meet their needs today and 
primes the property for future development. 
 

DEPARTMENT RECOMMENDATION 

Approval.   
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